
 
 
 

Economy and Regeneration 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
Date: Monday, 22 April 2013 
Time: 
 

6.00 pm 

Venue: Committee Room 1 - Wallasey Town Hall 
 
Contact Officer: Mark Delap 
Tel: 0151 691 8500 
e-mail: markdelap@wirral.gov.uk 
Website: http://www.wirral.gov.uk 
 

AGENDA 
 
1. MEMBERS' CODE OF CONDUCT 

- DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST/PARTY WHIP  
 
 Members are asked to consider whether they have any disclosable 

pecuniary interests and/or any other relevant interest in connection 
with any item(s) on this agenda and, if so, to declare them and state 
the nature of the interest. 
 
Members are reminded that they should also declare, pursuant to 
paragraph 18 of the Overview and Scrutiny Procedure Rules, whether 
they are subject to a party whip in connection with any item(s) to be 
considered and, if so, to declare it and state the nature of the whipping 
arrangement. 
 

2. MINUTES (Pages 1 - 10) 
 
 To receive the minutes of the meetings held on 16 January and 12 

February (Special) 2013. 
 

3. PRESENTATION AND DISCUSSION 
- MEMBER OF THE BUSINESS COMMUNITY (THEXTONS)  

 
4. DIGITAL INCLUSION - PRESENTATION  
 
5. UNDER-OCCUPATION SCRUTINY REVIEW (Pages 11 - 62) 
 
6. DRAFT HOUSING NEEDS ASSESSMENT  
 
 Verbal Update 

 

Public Document Pack



7. SUPPORTING PEOPLE: PROCESS TO ACHIEVE £2 MILLION 
BUDGET SAVINGS (Pages 63 - 76) 

 
8. TRADER TOOLKIT AND SHOPPING CENTRE ACTION PLANS - 

PROGRESS REPORTS  
 
 Verbal Update 

 
9. FAIR TRADE  
 
 Verbal Update 

 
10. END OF YEAR PERFORMANCE UPDATE  
 
 To be circulated separately 

 
11. REVIEW OF SCRUTINY WORK PROGRAMME (Pages 77 - 90) 
 
12. FORWARD PLAN  
 
 The Forward Plan for the period April to July 2013 has now been 

published on the Council’s intranet/website. Members are invited to 
review the Plan prior to the meeting in order for the Economy and 
Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny Committee to consider, having 
regard to the work programme, whether scrutiny should take place of 
any items contained within the Plan and, if so, how it could be done 
within relevant timescales and resources. 
 

13. REGENERATION UPDATE  
 
14. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS APPROVED BY THE CHAIR 

(PART 1)  
 
15. EXEMPT INFORMATION - EXCLUSION OF MEMBERS OF THE 

PUBLIC  
 
 The public may be excluded from the meeting during consideration of 

the following items of business on the grounds that they involve the 
likely disclosure of exempt information. 
 
RECOMMENDED – That in accordance with section 100A (4) of the 
Local Government Act 1972, the public be excluded from the meeting 
during consideration of the following items of business, on the grounds 
that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined 
by the relevant paragraphs of Part 1 of Schedule 12A (as amended) to 
that Act. The public interest test has been applied and favours 
exclusion. 
 

16. ANY OTHER URGENT BUSINESS APPROVED BY THE CHAIR 
(PART 2)  

 
 
 



����������	�
�����
��������
������	�
��
��������������

�
���������	�
�����������
��

�
��������� ���������� �������������������
�
� ����������� ������������

 �!������
 ���"�
��#�������
�

$�%��&����
'�$������
������(���
�

�
'�������� ����������� ��)�*���+��,���������-����������&��.��

����������,���������-���������.�����
�

��*�������.*����� ����������� %�'�(��������
��!��+����

�

�
�

/
� �����
�����	��������	������	����
������������
������
��������
�
��.*���� 0���� ��+��� ��� ��������� 0������� ����� ���� ���� ��������*��� ���������
���������� ���1��� ���� ������ ����(���� ��������� ��� ����������� 0���� ���� ���.���� ��� �����
�&��������	��-���	���������������.����������������������-�������������2�
�
��.*����0������.����������������������������������	���������������&�����
3��-�
����4(��(��0����������������������$���	�0������� �����0���� �*5���� ��� �� ������
0������������������0�����������.�������*����������������	��-���	�������������������������
�����������-�����0������&������&�.���2�
�
)�������������������0����.���2�
�

/�� ��������
�

��������  � �!"#� #!�� $%&'#��� �(� #!�� $��#%&)�� !���� �&� *� +�,�-%"�.� "&�� /0�
����$1�2�"&��3�	�-�$1�2�+�,�-%"�.�45/46�1��",,2����7�
�

/�� �
���������� ��	� 	�������� �� �����
� ��� ���� ��������
���������+�����.��
�
6��������� �������������+���.����	�$�&������'��������7#�����,������	��-��86�4�
8����	�0�������*������(��������&�(����������������������.*�������������������-�
���� *������� ���� ���� -������� �������� ��� ���� ��������� ���� ���������� ��� ������2� ���
��.�������..������������86�4�����*����*��������9��+�������$����������
:�;�
����0������������-���������-�����+�����������7#2�6�����.�����������������&��<������
������� �������0��������-�.�.*����� *����� ��� *��������	� �� �����.������� -��.���
-��.�(�����������������������(��������-�����-��������������������������2�
�
!�� ��-������ ��� ��&��-������ �������&��� ����� ���� *���� -����� *�� �86�4�9��+������	�
0�������������������������������*���&���+���*��������������������������������7� ����
����������7#�-�������� �����

��������-��������8�����������(������ ����������������� ���
����������������2�!�0�(��	�0��������������	���(�������������������+������--�����*��

Public Document Pack Agenda Item 2

Page 1



����,�(��������������.	��������0���.����������(�����������9��+�������-�������������
*�� �� (��*��� ���������2� 6���� -������ ���� ���� ����=�� �"�������� ��������� -��� ����
����.���������-����������������������.����0������0��+������������&���&���������7#�
.��+��� ���������2�  � 9������� ����� ���� *���� ���0�� �� ���� ��� ��..������ �����
-����&� �*������� -��.�������� ������� ���� ���� 7� � ���� ���*���� �<��.���� ��� *��
�&������ ���� ���.����	� 0����� ���� ����0��� ���� *������� ��� &��0� ���� *���.��
���-���*��	� 0���� ���� ��(����.���� �-� ��0� �������2� ,�� ��������� ��� ��..����� -��.�
��.*����0������&�������5�*��������������������-��������������.�����	��������������
���������	������&������0��+-����������������*����"	�/
�5�*������*������(��2�6���
9��+�������-��������0�����0� ����.�����--��������-��86�4=�������� ���8��������	����
0�������-�������.����5�*��0����*����������-�������������0��+-����2�
�

�������� ��!"#��2�8"$���&�1��#!"&9���(�2�!%�� %&(�2$"#%���,2���&#"#%�&�"&��
#!��-�&)2"#'�"#%�&���(�#!����$$%##���1��"--�2����#��������(�2�#!��-�&#%&'���
�'--�����(�#!���%29�&!�"��("-%�%#:7�
�

//� ��	����45/;�45/*���������
���������
�
6���  ����&� '�������� �-� >�0	� !$� ����  ����� ����&�.���� �*.������ .����� 
//�
���*����� ?� ��� '���.*��� ��
��	� 0����� ��(����� ����� ���� ��*����� ���� �&����� ���
���������	� ��� ��(��&�� �������� -��� ��
�1��
�� ��������&� @�:2�� .������	� �*5���� ��� ����
����.���-� -������ �����������	�0����� ��<����2� 6�����..������0��� ��<������ ���
&�(����������������������������.�	�0�����-����0������������.��	�(�A���
�
•� $�B��������?�$�&���������	�!����&������������&�
•� ���+����&������*����$���������
•� '��������������+����&�
•� ����&��-������B�������&���(����
•� ,�(������������������
•� !�.��,������������&��..��
�

�������� ��!"#�#!��%&%#%"���"�%&)��,2�,��"�����#��'#�%&��"1%&�#�$%&'#��/00�1��
&�#��7�
�

/;� ����
�����������������	�����������������
�
6��� ,�����.� ������&��� '��������� $�&���������� ���� 8�(����.���� ���(����� �� ���������
������ ��� ���� �����-��	� ��� �� ���� ��
�	� -��.� ��������.��� ��� ���� �*B��&������
�������������������������������9�����>�����&�����(���	�0�����0����������*��������
*��0���� ���� ;������������ �����&� �����������!�����	�#��0����	� >�(������	� ��-����
����������������(����;�$�&�����������(�����2�!����..������ �����������0�����.��
��.���������5�����������������������	���5����������&���&�������������������0�*B*�����
,6� �����.� ���(����� *�� �� ������ ������ ���(����	�  *�����2� ,�� &�(�� ����������� -��� �������
�����&� ���� �"�����&� �������� 0��� 0������ ��� .�(�	� ������� ��� .���� �-� ���� �������
�����&����������������������*�������.������&����������*���-����(����*��������������
��������������2� !�� ��..������ ����� ���� ����&������ ���� �����&� ����� �-� �� &�������
�.*����-������������������������(��������.������������0�����0���-�����������������
*��0�����������-������&����������&����������-������������*�������.������0������
������������(���������.2�,����������	������&��������&������0���������������������
�����&�����	����������������������*��������������0���������(����*�����������������0����
����������������������������2�!�0�(��	�������0��������-�/C��-�������&��0����������*��
.������������������-��.�����������������������������.�(�.���������������-��������
0�����&��&�*��2�
�

Page 2



 �����������.������������������*�������������������������*����������*�����������&��
��� ���� ��0� �����.� ���� ���� *���� ��(����� �-� ���� ����� ��� ��&� ��� ��� ���� �����.� ���
���(���� ����������� ��-��.������ ����� 0��� ��<����2� !�0�(��	� �����"�.������ �;C� �-�
����������� ���� ���� ���� ������� ������ �������	� ���� ���� 0���� *�� ��.������ ��� ��� ���
����&���
�	��-������0�����������.����������������&���&�����2�
�
,�� ��������� ��� �� <������� -��.� ���� ������ 0���� ��&���� ��� ������ ����������� 0���
����&�����0���� ���� *�����&� ����� ���� *���� ���������	� ���� ,�����.�������&���'��������
���(�������-��.��������������������������0�����&����������������2�
�

�������� ��
�
+/.� �!"#�#!��2�,�2#�1��&�#��7�
�
+4.� �!"#�#!���((%-�2��1��2�<'��#���#��%&-�'���=%#!%&�('#'2��',�"#��2�,�2#�� ��
�

+".� ��#"%����(�#!��&'$1�2��(���#��#!"#�"2��"�"%�"1���=%#!%&��"-!�"2�"6�"&��
+1.� ��#"%����(�",,�%-"&#��-'22�&#�"2�"��(�2��%��&-�6�-�$,"2���=%#!�#!�%2�

�%2�#��2�"��(��2�(�2�&-�7�
�

/�� ����������������������

����
�
D���������.������/��;������.*�����
��	�����,�����.�������&���'��������$�&����������
���� 8�(����.���� ���(����� ��.*���� 0���� ��� �(��(��0� �-� ���� ������ �-� �����
��.����.���� ������������������� ��������(����(����*��� ���������� ���&�������� �����
�.����.���2�!����..����������������������������0����������-���*���+���� ���0�����
����.����� ��� ���� >�(������������$�&���	� ���� ������� ��0���� ����� -��� 
3B�/� ����� �����
�������������-��.�����&��������������������(���&��� -��� ���� ��������� ����.*����
�(��� ���� ����� ����2� 6��� ��.������(�� &���� ���-��.����� ����� *�� �����*���� ��� ��
.��������-� -����������������..������ ���������&� ����������	�����*����.����.����
���� ��&���������� ���5����� ���� ��.�� ��� -������	� �������&� ���� @��.� .�"��� ���
��(����.���� ���)�0�9��&����	�0�������������E��� 5�*��������� ��������������������
��������������2�
�
6���,�����.�������&���'�����������(��������������-������������-��������.����.�������
������� ���� �������� ���� �.����� �-� %�(���.���� ������� ����&��� ��� ���� ���������
�.*�����������.����������-�
3B�/�����������������������-���*���+���� ���0����2�!��
���� ��� ����� ���� ���&�� �-� ��������	� >�(������� ����� $�&���� ���� ������� �������
�����(�������� �����0���� ��������� �������������&�������� ���������� ������.����.����
0����	���.*����	�����������*�������.���&����&������--������-������(�����������.�����
�������.����.�����������2�
�

�������� ��!"#�#!��2�,�2#�1��&�#���"&��"�('2#!�2�',�"#��1��,2���&#���%&��%>�
$�&#!�7�
�

/E� ���������
�����	�����
�
D���������.���������;������.*�����
��	�����,�����.�������&���'��������$�&����������
����8�(����.���� ���(����� ��� ������ ��� ���� ��<���� �-� ���������� ���������=�� �������
������������������������(��������0����*���&��������������������.2�!�������&�(����
������������	�0����� ���(����� ��-��.������ ��� ���� ��(����.���� �-� ����6������ 6���+���
����6�0��������� �����������2�8.����������0����*����������������������������*��.�
���������-���������������&��-�������.����������0�����������-�������������������������
��������������������-���.��	��������	�!�F�����9���+*�����������2�

Page 3



�
6��� ,�����.� ������&��� '�������� ��-������ ����� ��� ���� �����(��� *�� ���� ������� ��� 
;�
4���*��� ��
�� �-� ���� ��������� �*.������� '��-�� ����� ������&�� -��� �����������	�
0�������������������0��+��-�������������������9���&��������������(���������*�����
�-� ����������&������ �������������&�0��+2�!�� ����������������&�����0���� ���� -�����
�������-����������������������������&�0��+������������������������� �����������0����
-����0�����..���-��.��2�'��������.����0����*����������-������������������������
��� ���� ���&�� �-� ������ ����� 0���� *�� ���������� *�� ���� ������� �����2� ��.*����
��-������ ��� ����&��&� �������&� ������	� ��� ���������� ���� ��������� ��� ������� �������&�
������..������ ����� �-� �������&� ��������0���� ��� ��������	� ��� ���.��� ���(���*��	� ���
0����.��������-�����������*���--����(����.���&��2�
�

�������� ��
�
+/.� �!"#�#!��2�,�2#�1��&�#��7�
�
+4.� �!"#�"�2�,�2#�1��,2���&#���#��#!��&�>#�$��#%&)��(�#!����$$%##���',�&�#!��

������,$�&#� �(� #!�� �2"��2� ����9%#� "&�� ',�&�,2�)2���� %&� 2��"#%�&� #�� #!��
(����=%&)�-�&#2���#!"#�"2��#!���'1?�-#��(�#!��(%2�#�,!"����(���#"%����"-#%�&�
,�"&&%&)�=�29� ��

�
••••� �%�-"2��
••••� ��=���22:�
••••� ��"-�$1��+��'�#�&�
�"����2�')!�
�"�.�
••••� ��=��2%)!#�&�+��"1"&9�
�"�.�
••••� �"��"��:��%��")��
••••� 21:�

�
/3� ��
��
�����������
���
���
���@4���	�@;��

�
6��� ,�����.� ������&��� '�������� $�&���������� ���� 8�(����.���� ���� ��� ����
���-��.������-� ����������=�������������������

1��
/�-�������?������.*�����
��
�G��� ���� -��� 4���*��� ?� '���.*��� ��
�� �G��� ���� ���(����� ��� �(��(��0� �-�
���-��.����	����������������+�.��������&2�6�������������&���&������������-��.�����
�-� ���5����� ���� ���-��.����� ����������� ����� 0���� ����(���� ��� ���� 8����.�� ����
$�&����������4(��(��0���������������..�����	������ ������������������� ���.���
�-�HI���8����.�=�����HI���)��&�*������=�������������(��������������-�0����0���
0��+��&�0�����������-��.������&������������������������&���2�
�

�������� ��
�
+/.� �!"#�#!��2�,�2#��1��&�#��7�
�
+4.� �!"#� #!���((%-�2��1��2�<'��#��� #������#�� #!��
���$%���#�&��%&�2��"#%�&� #��

#!�� ���%��2:� �(� 2�-�$$�&�"#%�&�� ('2#!�2� #�� #!�� �2��&� �2�=#!� �-2'#%&:�

��%�=6� "�� #!�� ('&�%&)� (�2� %#� !"�� 1��&� #"9�&� "�� ,"2#� �(� #!�� 1'�)�#�
�"�%&)�7�

�
/:� 
����������
�������
A��
��
������

�
D������ ��� .����� �;� �
/� )�(�.*��� ��
��	� ���� ������ ���(����� ��� ������ �-� ����
��..�����=��0��+����&��..�	���(��&����(��������&�������(��0���-���.*����������
0����������������-��.�����*������-���2�!�������������������������������������*����

Page 4



������-����-�����������������+�����.*����0�������������0����.��������*��������
����������&��..�2�
�
,�� ��������� ��� �� ��..���� -��.� ���� ������ ��&�����&� �� ������� ����� ���� *����
���(�������&�����*��������������.�����
;/��
�� �������
�����-����	�0������������-���
��������*����.�����-�����.*������+��&�������������������-������������6�����������	�
������*�������.*��� -���$�&���������������������&�������&���&����� ������(�������
�������������������������2�
�
6��������� ��-������ ����� ��� ���� 0��+� ���&��..�� ���.� H��������&� ������� ?� D����
���(�������(�����=�������(�����������..��������������0����������������0��+�0��������
��������&�������� ���.����������+�������+������(��0	�0�����0���� �����-��.�����
*������-�������������(��0��"����������*��������+���*����.*���2�
�

�������� ��
�
+/.� �!"#�#!���-2'#%&:���29��2�)2"$$��1��&�#��7�
�
+4.� �!"#� #!���� ��$1�2�� =!�� "2�� "1��� #�� '&��2#"9�� #!�� �-2'#%&:� 2��%�=� %&�

2��"#%�&�#���',,�2#%&)����,��6�-�&#"-#�#!���!"%2��,�9��,�2��&���%2�-#7�
�

;�� ��
��
	�������
�
6��� ����&�'�������� �-� >�0	�!$����� ���������&�.���� ��������� ����� ����D��0����
����� -��� ���� ������� ������� ���  ����� ��
�� 0��� �*������� ��� ���� ������=��
��������10�*����2���.*��������*������(����������(��0�����������������������.�����&����
������ -��� ���� 8����.�� ���� $�&���������� 4(��(��0� ���� �������� ��..������ ���
��������	���(��&���&�����������0��+����&��..�	�0�����������������������+��������
�-��������.������������0������������������	��-���	���0���������*�������0����������(����
��.��������������������2�
�

�������� ��!"#�#!����2="2����"&�1��&�#��7�
�
�
� � �
�

Page 5



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 6



����������	�
�����
��������
������	�
��
��������������

�
�������	�
������������
��

�
��������� ����������� �������������������
�
� ������������ ����� ������

!�"������
!���#�
��$�������
�

%�&��'����
(�%������
�������)���
��*������'��+�
�

�
(� ������� ����������� ��*������,�� ������-���*�����+�����

�
���������+���� ����������� &�(�)���� �
�
�

.
� �����
�����	��������	������	����
������������
������
��������
�
��+���� /���� ��0��� ��� ��������� /������� ����� ���� ���� �����������  ���������
���������� ���1��� ���� ������ ����)���� ��������� ��� ����������� /���� ���� ���+���� ��� �����
�'��������	��-���	���������������+�����������������������-�������������2�
�
��+����/������+�����������������������������������	� ����������� ���'�� ��
3��-�
����4)��)��/������������������������%����	�/������� �����/���� ��5���� ��� ��  �����
/�� ���������������/�����������+�����������������������	��-���	�������������������������
������������-�����/��  ��'������'�+���2�
�
6��������������������/����+���2�
�

.�� ��������������	����������
�����������
�����������
�
�������� ��� +������� �7� �8� 6�)�+��� ��
��	� 9�� �.� (���+��� ��
��� ���� 99� �
8�
����������
��	�������++����������������������� �����-���������-�:#�����)��� �������
�����+�� �-� ���� *���� %������ �������� ���'�� �� ������������	� /����� ���� ����
����������� �� ���� ������� ��� ���� +�����'� ����� ��� ;� �������� ��
�� �+������ 
39�
��-����2�
�
���� ��+ �������)��  ��'��++�� �-� ������������� ���� ��'�'�+���� ���� ����
�������0��������-��+�������)��� +�����-������������<����� �������������������������
-��� ��
�=��
8� ���� -������� ��� ��-��+� ���� ��������� +�0��'�  ������� ����������'�
��'��-������ ��'��� ��)��'�2� ���� ������� ���� ������ ���� �������������  ������� ����
�+ ��+������������������/������ ���� �� ���	����� ����0���*������ ���������	� ���--�����
������ ���0��������� -��� ������ �� ��2�������� ��������������� ������������� �������������
-�����'������������������������'���� ������������������/������!  ��������
	��������2�
�
���� �������<�� ��� ������ ���-��+����� ����'��� '�)�� �� ���-�  ������������ ��� ����
������������� -�����'�� ����  ��)����� ��-��+������ ��� ��������� ��� ���'����� ��'�'�+����
���� ����+��������'�� -��� ���� '��'�� ���� ���� ��+�'�� ���� ��������� ����� ���� ����
�������0��2� $��� +����'��� /���� ����� ���� �������� �������  ������� ���� )��������	�
������� ��� ���������� -��� >������� ���� ���0� ��� ������ ����+�� ���� ���+������ /����2� ����
����-�:#�����)��������� ������ ��������������������������++����������-��+�+�+����
�-����--����������+�/������ ���������������:>�������,+ ����!�����+����	�����������
��'�'�+�������������������������������/�������'����������������������2�

Public Document Pack

Page 7



�
,���)������ )��/�� �# ������� �� ��+���� ��� ��������� ��� ���� '������� ��������� �-�
������������� ��� ������ /���� ����	� ��� ��+�� ���������	� ���� ��++����� ���� ����
�� ������� �� �������� ����� ��������?� -��� �#�+ ��	� .
@� ���'� ���/�� ��� ������� �����'�
��  ���� -��� ��� � ����� ��	� ���)������	� ���'� �� ���'��� +�5������ �'�����2� "�/�)��	�
��+�������� ���� ��������������-� ���� -�'��������������� ����� ���� ��++�����/����
��5����)�2�
�
������++������/�����>����������'�)������������������������������������-�����0����
��������� ��� ���� -����/��'� � ���-��� ���+�	� /����� -���� /������ ���� ��+��� ���� ���� ������
 �� ����� ����� ����)������ )��/�� �# ������� �� ��+���� ������ -��+� ���� ����� �-�
-�����0����A��'����������B��
�
•� ����� �
!�"#�$%&�"%'��"()!#�%*�

������/��������+����-�� ������������������	���������'�������������������������
+��0����'� ��'��� �-� .�@	� ���  ��'� ���� � �������� � �-� ����+���� %�)����
�������� ���	� /����� /����� ���'� �� ��)��'� �-� C
�.	���� ���� ��+�)��'� ����
-�����'�/�����/��������������������������+�����)��������)����������'���������
A����'�2�
�
��+������++��������������)��/��-�������'��-���������-�����-�������+����*������
���� ��������� ����������� ����+�+����+� �����������������6�/�A��'����	� ����
���������������������������-����������+ �����-���+�)��'����������-���������+�
�)����2���+����+���������������������+������ ���������������������  ��������
'�����+�0��'� ��� ���+�� �-� D+������� -�����'<� ���� ���'����'� ��'�� ������� �)����2�
��+������++����������� ���������+����%�)�������/�����'�������++������
��������� ��	� ��� ��+��� �-� ���������	� �'����� ����� ���� � �������� � ������� ��
���  ��2�

�
•� �"(��"()�%*�

*����������������������/������������+����-�������++�����	��������������������������
���� �� ������ ������������������� ��0��'�����'��������� ����������� �+ ����� ���
�����������������  ��'��������2�
�
��+���� ������ ���� ������������� ��� ����� ���� ��++������ ����� ���� �����
��������� /��� ���� �� ����������� ����'�� ��� ���/� ���� )��/�� �# ������� -���
������������� ��0��'�����'�������������������������2�

�
•� �(!���"%%�%*��'+� !�

"�)��'������������������++������-�����"�����-�%�'���������������������'����
��������� ��� ���� ��0���� �+ ���� �-� ����  �� ����� � ����	� ��+���� ���������� ������
��  ����-��������� ����2�

�
•� �,,(!%#� !&-�,��($*("..!�

���� �������� ���� -��� ����  ���� -�/� ������ -������ 
8;�  �� ��� ��� ��+ �����
!  ���������� �	� /���� �� -������� 

9�  ��������� �)������� �����'� ���� ��������
-�������������2�������/������� �������)�������/����������������������� � ��	�����
-����� ��� ��+�)�� ���� ��'��� -��� ����  ��'��++�	� /����� /����� ���� ���� *������
!  �����������'��++�����������������-��+?��������������������������������'���
������� ��'��++�������# ������  ����������������)��� ���E�)�� ���������%�'����
!  ������������+�2�
�
��+������'���'���������)������-�����!  ���������� �����+��������++������
����� /���� ��+�������'� �  ����������� -��� ����'�  �� ��	� �)���� �--���� ������� ��
+���������)��������+ ���+���������������'2���+���������>����������/�������
��� �������� )������� �-� ���� ������������� ���� ��������� ��� � ����� ��� ������� ����

Page 8



�������� ����+�2� ���� "���� �-� %�'���������� ���� �������'�  �� ����� ���
��)����'������������������� ���������+����������2�
�
,���)������ ��++����� /���� ����� ����  ������� ����+�� ������� �� ��������� ���	�
���������)���	� ����� �����������������������)��� ������������+�� ����������� ���
�# �����������)��� +�����-�����E�)�� ���������%�'��������+�2�

�
•� �"%'/,!(&$%�� -!.!�

��+���� +���� ��� ��++���� ��� ��������� ��� ����  �� ����� ��� ����)��� � ����
���)���	�-��������������'�����+�����--����)������� �� ���/�����)���������������
�������'��� -��+� ��� ����?� ���� �������'� ���� ���)���� �)������� ��� ���� '�������
 ����2�

�
•� 
!&#(� #�(!�$0�
!*!%!("#�$%1��$�&�%*�"%'���"%%�%*�	!,"(#.!%#�

����"�����-�%�'���������������������'���������� ���� �� ����� �������������-�
����(� ���+���	� ��� �� ������� �-� ��+�� ��'��-������ ����'��	�/����� ���� ���� ��� ��
�����������������-�����/��0��-�����(� ���+���2���+����������������  ����-���
����� ����	����������������+�������2�

�
•� �$.!�%&��"#�$%�

��+���� ������ ���� ��  ���� -��� 4 ����� �/��� ��� ������� ���� ��'��� -��� ����
 ��'��++�	� ����/��'� -��� ��+�� ����'�� �--�������� ���� -����  �)����� /��0� ���
��������2�

�
•� �$�&�%*���,,$(#�0$(������$..�%�#�!&�

F����� ���� �����+�������	� ��+���� ���������� ������ ��  ���� -��	� ��� ������ ����
��  ���� -��� ����� ����� ��� ��+�)�� �������)���	�������������)��������� -��+� ����
��++���������� ������������������� �����������-��������'� 2�

�
•� ��,,$(#�%*��!$,�!�

���� ������ ��-������ ��� ��������� /��0� ����� ���� ����  ������� ��� ��������� ���
��  �����'� ��� ��� ���� ��)����� ���� ��++������ �-� ���� ��'��-������ /��0� ���'�
�������0��� ��� ��� �--����� ��)��2� !� -���� �� ���� /����� ��  ��������� ��� ���� ��#��
+�����'��-�������++���������������>������	����� ����������������/��0�/�����
������/� ������2���+�������������������� �����/������������������  �����'�
��� �����'���-��+���#������2�

�
•� %+!&#�%*��%���(("�2&���&�%!&&!&�3%+!&#���(("�4�

��+���������� ����� ����� ����� ��)��)����� ���������� �����  ���� �������������
�����'�� �� ��+��� �-� �)�����	� ��������'� �������� ��)���+����	� '������ ����
������-����	�/�����+������� ��������'�������2�����"�����-�%�'��������������
�������'� ��)����� ����� ���� � ����� /����� ����� ������� �� ��������� /���� ������
���)����� �� ��+�)��'� ���� ,�)���� *������ �)����� ��'��� ���� ������� ����� �����
��  ���2� ,�� ��� ����� ��� ��++����� -��+� ��+���� ��� ���������� ����� �--������
/�������������'�/����������)��������-��������� ��������2�

�

!&$�+!'� 5� �-"#� #-!� �"��%!#� �!� (!6�!&#!'� #$� -"+!� '�!� (!*"('� #$� #-!� +�!7&�
!8,(!&&!'��%�(!�"#�$%�#$�#-$&!���'*!#�$,#�$%&�7�#-�%�#-!�(!.�#�$0�#-!�� $%$./�
"%'�
!*!%!("#�$%��9���$..�##!!:�
�
�
� � �
�

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



WIRRAL BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 
ECONOMY AND REGENERATION OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE -  
22nd APRIL 2013 
 
REPORT OF THE UNDER-OCCUPATION SCRUTINY TASK & FINISH GROUP 
 
UNDER-OCCUPATION SCRUTINY REVIEW – FINAL REPORT 
 
 
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 
This report provides background information regarding the Final Report of the  
Under-occupation Scrutiny Review.  
 
1. Background 
 
1.1 During meetings of the Economy and Regeneration Scrutiny Committee held during 

2012, members reported considerable public concern regarding the impact of changes 
to housing benefit and welfare reforms specifically relating to under- occupation in 
both the public and private housing sectors.  

 
1.2 At the meeting of the Economy and Regeneration Scrutiny Committee, held on 5th 

September 2012, members agreed to:   
“Further scrutiny work being undertaken on the impact of Welfare Reform on both 
private and social housing sectors and, in particular, on under-occupancy in the social 
sector”.  

 
1.2 All members of the Committee were invited to volunteer to join a Task & Finish Group 

to undertake detailed scrutiny work of this topic. Subsequently, a number of members 
attended a meeting held on 18th October 2012 at which the detailed Scope for the 
review was discussed.    

 
1.2 The members who joined the Task & Finish Group were: 

• Councillor Mark Johnston (Chair) 
• Councillor Denise Realey  
• Councillor Jean Stapleton 
• Councillor Mike Sullivan 
• Councillor Janette Williamson  

 
2. Scope of the Review 
 
2.1  The Scope Document for the Scrutiny Review was agreed by the Economy and 

Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny Committee in November 2012. 
 
2.2 It was agreed that the Scrutiny Review would focus on the following key issues: 

• The impact of the introduction of the Housing Benefit Cap; 
• The impact of changes to the Local Housing Allowance, with special reference 

to the Shared Accommodation Rate for under-35s; 
• The allocation process for Discretionary Housing Benefit; 

Agenda Item 5

Page 11



• The impacts of the reforms relating to Under-occupation and how this affects 
households and communities;   

• The impact of the reforms on the Social Housing sector. 
 
3 Evidence Gathering and the Report 
 
3.1 The majority of the evidence for this Scrutiny Review was gathered during two 

Evidence Days held at Wallasey Town Hall. During those days the Members 
interviewed a series of landlords, tenants, Council officers and representatives of 
partner organisations.  

 
3.2 Following the Evidence Days, members of the Task & Finish Group have reviewed 

their findings. The Final Report, ‘The Implications of Benefit reforms on Under-
occupation’, which includes eighteen recommendations, is attached for consideration 
by the Committee.  

 
4. Proposed Follow-up Review 
 
4.1 Recommendation 14 of the Scrutiny Report proposes that a Follow-up review of the 

impact of the reforms should be held in the future. The Members recommend that “An 
Evaluation Impact Assessment regarding the effect of the reforms on under-
occupation will be conducted by the Economy & Regeneration Scrutiny Committee (or 
successor committee) during spring 2014 to assess the practical impact of the 
reforms”. 

 
4.2 In order for any follow-up review to be most beneficial, it would be helpful if statistical 

measures are put in place to evaluate the impact of the reforms on individuals, 
organisations and communities. Therefore, thought should be given now to the type of 
data that will be required for the Impact Assessment. Early identification of the 
statistical measures will enable the Council and partner organisations to be aware in 
advance of the requirement to capture the data.   

 
RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

(1) Members are requested to approve the Under-occupation Scrutiny Report;  
 
(2) The Under-occupation Scrutiny Report will be referred to the next appropriate 

Cabinet meeting; 
 
(3) Further reports will be presented to the Economy & Regeneration Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee to update members regarding the progress being 
made towards the implementation of the recommendations;  

 
(4) Members are asked to highlight any statistical measures that will need to be 

available prior to the proposed Follow-up Review in Spring 2014. 
 
Report of the Under-occupation Scrutiny Task & Finish Group: 
Cllr Mark Johnston (Chair) 
Cllr Jean Stapleton 
Cllr Denise Realey 
Cllr Michael Sullivan 
Cllr Janette Williamson 

Page 12



 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

���������	
�����������������������������������	
�����������������������������������	
�����������������������������������	
������������������������������
�������������������������		��
�����		��
�����		��
�����		��
������������

����
	�������������	�������������	�������������	�����������������

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 


������������������ 
������������������ 
������������������ 
������������������ ����
�����	������!���"����
����������	������!���"����
����������	������!���"����
����������	������!���"����
���������

���������!�	�������	�����������������!�	�������	�����������������!�	�������	�����������������!�	�������	������������
 
 

 
 
 
 
 �#��$�%&'(�#��$�%&'(�#��$�%&'(�#��$�%&'(����

���
����
����
����
�����������������������������

 
 Wirral 

Page 13



Page 2 of 39  
The Implications of Benefit Reforms on Under-Occupation – Final Report 

����
WIRRAL BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 
THE IMPLICATIONS OF BENEFIT REFORMS ON  

UNDER-OCCUPATION   
 

SCRUTINY REVIEW 
 

FINAL REPORT 
 

 
 Page 
 
 
1 INTRODUCTION........................................................................................................................3 
 
 
2 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY & RECOMMENDATIONS.................................................................4 
 
 
3 PANEL MEMBERS..................................................................................................................11 
 
 
4 BACKGROUND AND ORIGINAL BRIEF ...............................................................................12 
 
 
5 METHODOLOGY FOR THE REVIEW ....................................................................................13 
 
 
6 EVIDENCE FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 6.1 The reforms within the remit of this Scrutiny Review.....................................................14 
 6.2 The implications for tenants ...........................................................................................16 
 6.3 The implications for social housing providers ................................................................21 

6.4 The implications for the private housing sector..............................................................24 
6.5 The implications for the Council and its Services ..........................................................26 

 6.6 The implications for other partner organisations and their clients .................................29 
  

 
  
  
  
 APPENDICES 
 

1 Scope Document ...............................................................................................................31 
2 Attendance List for the Evidence Days .............................................................................37 
3 Reference Documents.......................................................................................................39 

 
 
  

  

Page 14



Page 3 of 39  
The Implications of Benefit Reforms on Under-Occupation – Final Report 

1. INTRODUCTION  
 
At the meeting of the Economy and Regeneration Scrutiny Committee, held on 5th September 2012, 
Members agreed to: 
 
“Further scrutiny work being undertaken on the impact of Welfare Reform on both private and social 
housing sectors and, in particular, on under-occupancy in the social sector.” 
 
As a result, two Evidence Days were held during January 2013, when representatives of landlords, 
tenants and a variety of partner organisations discussed relevant issues with the Members of the 
Scrutiny Panel.  
 
An Executive Summary of the findings follows, together with the recommendations arising from this 
Review.  The Report then sets out the background to the original brief, as well as the methodology 
adopted for gathering the evidence.  This is followed by the main body of the Report which details the 
key findings of the Review and the evidence gathered in support of the recommendations of the 
Panel Members. 
  

Page 15



Page 4 of 39  
The Implications of Benefit Reforms on Under-Occupation – Final Report 

2. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
The reforms under scrutiny  
Three specific reforms are included in the scope of this Under-occupation Scrutiny Review.  
 

• Shared Accommodation Rate in the private housing sector.  
The shared accommodation rate (SAR) restricts single households without child dependants 
in the private rented sector to enough Housing Benefit to rent a room in a shared house. In 
January 2012, the age limit for this reform was raised from 25 to 35 year olds.  
 

• ‘Benefit Cap’.  
A new ‘Benefit Cap’ means some tenants may get their housing benefit reduced if they 
receive a high level of State welfare benefits. The Benefit Cap will be applied to working age 
tenants with children or a spouse and will be limited to a maximum of £500 per week (£26,000 
per annum). A single tenant can only receive up to £350 per week (£18,200 per annum).  This 
reform is due to be phased in during 2013.  
 

• Under-occupation rule for tenants in the social housing sector.  
From April 2013, all current and future working age tenants renting in the social housing 
sector will receive Housing Benefit based on the need of their household. This will mean a 
reduction in their benefit entitlement if they live in housing that is deemed to be too large for 
their needs. Those in receipt of maximum Housing Benefit with one spare bedroom will lose 
14% of their Housing Benefit and those with two or more spare bedrooms will lose 25%. 
Tenants who receive partial Housing Benefit will lose benefit pro rata depending on whether 
there are one or two (plus) spare bedrooms.    

 
Further details of the reforms are available in Section 6.1 of the Report. Of the three reforms, the 
Panel Members have focused particularly on the forthcoming Under-occupation rule in the social 
housing sector. However, it is clear that these reforms will impact on individuals, communities, 
housing providers, the Council and partner organisations. 
 
 
The implications for tenants  
It is apparent from the evidence provided during the Evidence Days that the proposals are creating 
significant anxiety for some individuals. It was predicted by one attendee at the Evidence Days that 
“there will be unfortunate casualties”. This is most likely to be among some of the Borough’s more 
vulnerable residents. Reduced income will cause increased hardship for tenants, particularly when 
taken in conjunction with the wider welfare reforms. The options available to tenants appear to 
include: 

• Moving to a smaller property (if available). During the Evidence Days, the shortage of one 
and two bedroom properties in Wirral’s social housing sector was highlighted repeatedly. 
Consequently, the ability to downsize is seen as a real barrier for tenants even if they were 
willing to do so 

• Reducing spending or increasing income 
• Taking in a lodger 
• Applying for support from Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP) 

 
Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP) are extra payments that can be made by a Local Authority to 
a claimant in order to help pay rent, Council Tax or both. In effect, DHP is an emergency fund to 
support people who have a benefit shortfall. Therefore, when the under-occupation rule is introduced 
in April 2013, benefit recipients will be able to claim for DHP for a transitionary period. It is clear from 
the evidence before the Panel Members that demand for the DHP resources will continue to increase. 
The Panel Members suggest that clear criteria should be put in place to ensure that the resources are 
allocated as fairly as possible and the most deserving cases are recognised. There was concern 
expressed that the DHP funding should not be allocated purely on a ‘first-come, first-served’ basis.  
 

Page 16



Page 5 of 39  
The Implications of Benefit Reforms on Under-Occupation – Final Report 

There was particular concern that disabled people living in specially adapted properties could be 
forced to move, requiring adaptations to be repeated at additional cost. The Department for Work and 
Pensions (DWP) has responded, in general, by saying that Local Authorities should avoid this by 
prioritising DHP funding for disabled people with significant adaptations. Therefore, the Panel 
members agreed that, if the tenant is in a property with major adaptations, such tenants should be 
treated as a high priority within the DHP allocation process.  
 
At the time of the Evidence Days, another specific group who would be adversely affected by the 
under-occupation rule were those foster carers living in social housing and claiming housing benefit. 
Foster children were not allowable in the original under-occupancy calculation. Although relatively few 
in number, there was a fear among social care professionals that the introduction of the under-
occupation rule may lead to a reduction in the number of foster carers due to the additional cost of 
providing an additional bedroom(s). However, on 12th March 2013, the Government announced that 
approved foster carers will be allowed one room for a foster child, although additional spare 
bedrooms may continue to attract the under-occupancy reduction. At the time of writing, clarity is still 
needed to ensure that no foster carers are detrimentally affected by this reform. Current indications 
show potentially 16 families in Wirral that may be affected. Therefore, the Panel Members are 
proposing that financial support should be made available to this small number of tenants, if deemed 
necessary, further to the clarification from the Department for Work and Pensions.    
 
 
The implications for social housing providers  
Concern was expressed regarding the impact that the Under-occupation rule could have on the social 
housing providers as businesses, resulting from the increased bad debt that may occur. As an 
example, for Wirral Partnership Homes, with over 2,600 affected tenants identified, the average 
additional rent to pay is £717 per year each. In order to mitigate risks, it is possible that the 
Registered Providers will have to re-structure their businesses in order to ensure that core services 
are protected. In the future, they will have to ensure investment in core services, such as collecting 
rent, ensuring an effective repairs and maintenance process and an extension of advice services to 
tenants. In the future, it would be helpful if potential tenants were better advised on what they could 
afford regarding their housing costs prior to them applying for tenancies. It is suggested that the 
Property Pool Plus website could be enhanced to provide additional information to potential tenants. 
 
The total number of one bedroom properties owned by Registered Providers in Wirral is 6,093.  This 
represents 26.5% of the total stock of social housing.  However, of that total, 296 are supported 
housing and 1,701 are sheltered accommodation. There was recognition that there is a shortage of 
smaller properties in the social housing sector and, therefore, there is a significant barrier towards 
tenants downsizing. As the Council undertakes the Housing Needs Assessment for the Borough, the 
Panel Members request that such evidence is taken into account. Although there are problems with 
the supply of smaller properties, it may be possible to encourage some tenants to downsize. 
Therefore, the Panel Members are suggesting that further consideration should be given to the 
marketing and promotion of downsizing assistance already available to tenants.  
 
A further way in which under-occupying tenants may be encouraged to move property and downsize 
is to increase the priority of such tenants within the banding system on Property Pool Plus. Under the 
current scheme, those applicants to Property Pool Plus who are deemed as ‘Under occupation’ are 
allocated to Band B (‘High Priority to Move’). The Panel Members considered that this was the 
appropriate priority for such tenants.  
 
The Registered Providers reported that little building of one bedroom accommodation has taken 
place for several years and had not been identified as a significant growth area in their long-term 
development plans. Within existing properties, some Registered Providers have considered the 
concept of re-designation of rooms. As an example, this could ensure that a small box room was no 
longer considered as a bedroom, resulting in the property being deemed to have one fewer bedroom 
and a consequential reduction in rent. In Wirral, this did not appear to be an approach that will be 
widely utilised by the Registered Providers.   
   

Page 17



Page 6 of 39  
The Implications of Benefit Reforms on Under-Occupation – Final Report 

 
To date, it appears that little use has been made of mutual exchange between tenants in the social 
housing sector. The Panel Members are requesting that further work takes place to encourage this 
process. Likewise, the Registered Providers are encouraged to explore the concept of Social 
Overdrafts to help ensure that tenants are better able to maintain their tenancies in the short-term. A 
further explanation of this concept is available in Section 6.3 of this Report.    
 
 
The implications for the private housing sector  
The implementation of the shared accommodation rate changes for tenants in the private sector were 
planned over a significant period of time. As a consequence, many landlords in the private sector 
planned ahead some time ago by starting to reduce the number of under-35 tenants who were in 
receipt of Local Housing Allowance. It is expected that this trend will continue. In general, 
representatives of the private housing sector expressed great concern for the future regarding the 
impact of the wider welfare reforms. 
 
The welfare reform agenda has been a significant topic of interest at meetings of the Private Landlord 
Forum. The Panel Members support the continued dialogue with the private housing landlords, 
ensuring that landlords are aware of their responsibilities, especially with regard to shared 
accommodation. 
 
It is widely anticipated, by both landlords and Council officers, that there will be a rise in demand from 
the under-35 year olds for bedsit-type accommodation in the private sector. It is predicted that those 
landlords operating in the private sector will see the opportunity to expand the number of smaller 
units. The consequence will be an increase in the numbers of Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) 
with landlords buying cheaper properties and converting them for shared accommodation and smaller 
units. Therefore, adequate monitoring and enforcement action needs to be taken to prevent the 
establishment of illegal Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs). 
 
 
The implications for the Council and its partners  
It is anticipated that the welfare reforms, including the changes to the under-occupation rules, will 
have a significant impact on the number of queries received by front-line staff, including the One Stop 
Shops. There are clearly concerns regarding resources. The Council is already exploring a number of 
options including the possibility of providing additional resource at “front of house” by re-deploying 
staff from elsewhere and ensuring that existing staff are fully trained and supported. In particular, it is 
important that front-line staff are able to sign-post clients to the most effective service to meet their 
individual requirements. In addition, the Panel Members encourage the expansion of Digital 
Champions in libraries, alongside the Go ON Wirral campaign with which the Council is currently 
engaged.  
 
It is anticipated that some of the implications of the welfare reforms, of which the under-occupation 
rule is just a part, will take some time to develop and to become apparent. The Panel Members are, 
therefore, recommending that a follow-up review takes place in approximately 12 months’ time in 
order to monitor the actual implications.  
 
 
The implications for other partner organisations and their clients  
It is highly likely that demand for advice and support will increase, at least in the short-term, adding 
to the pressure on the community and voluntary sector’s ability to continue the level of information, 
advice and advocacy services.  Their capacity is already significantly stretched as a result of 
reduced resources. The case was made by some contributors that there is scope to improve partner 
working in order to avoid duplication of services and to make the most effective use of resources.  

Page 18



Page 7 of 39  
The Implications of Benefit Reforms on Under-Occupation – Final Report 

The Panel Members are also encouraging organisations to work together to provide a structure for 
bringing back hard-to-let or empty properties into use. The idea of “self-repair” could be positive if 
supported by the Council and Registered Providers. There may be the potential for organisations 
such as temporary accommodation providers / hostels to act as partners within this process.  
 
During the Evidence Days, contributors pointed out the need for individuals to be able to manage 
budgets. The provision of more education regarding financial management and budgeting, 
particularly for young people and especially in socially deprived areas, would be beneficial. There is 
also scope for voluntary and community groups to make an important contribution in the wider 
community. It is hoped that Credit Unions will have a role to play, both in continuing to provide credit 
at competitive rates and providing other financial services to its members. Awareness-raising 
regarding Credit Unions in schools would be a helpful way of promoting financial management and 
budgeting skills to young people.   
 
In considering the evidence found during the Review, the Panel Members have formulated the 
recommendations identified on pages 8 to 10. 

Page 19



Page 8 of 39  
The Implications of Benefit Reforms on Under-Occupation – Final Report 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
 
The implications for tenants 
 
Recommendation 1 – Criteria for the allocation of Discretionary Housing Payment 
The Strategic Director of Transformation and Resources is requested to ensure that, whilst every 
application will be considered on its individual merits, the allocation of Discretionary Housing 
Payment is based on well-defined and quantifiable criteria. The criteria should be defined by the 
identification of the most vulnerable groups. The criteria should be easily understood by clients, for 
example, based on a points system and should be available for all front-line staff in the Toolkit (see 
Recommendation 11). 
(Reference Section 6.2, page 19) 
 
Recommendation 2 – Tenants with disabilities 
Tenants living in properties with major adaptations and affected by the under-occupation rule should 
be treated as a high priority within the Discretionary Housing Payment criteria.  
(Reference Section 6.2, page 19) 
 
Recommendation 3 – Foster carers 
The Strategic Director for Families and Wellbeing is requested to monitor any changes to the under-
occupation rules specifically affecting foster carers. Should there be adverse effects on any foster 
carers, the Strategic Director is requested to consider the introduction of an additional monthly fixed 
fee, paid regardless of whether a child is in place, in order to offset the implications of the under-
occupation rules for those foster carers affected.  
(Reference Section 6.2, page 20) 
 
 
The implications for social housing providers 
 
Recommendation 4 – Enhancements to the Property Pool Plus website  
The Strategic Director for Regeneration and Environment should consider the enhancement of the 
Property Pool Plus (PPP) website to ensure that a benefits calculator and other relevant information 
is available at the time when tenants are selecting and applying for properties. 
(Reference Section 6.3, page 21) 
 
Recommendation 5 – Downsizing Support 
The Strategic Director for Regeneration and Environment is requested to discuss with the Registered 
Providers whether a more joined-up approach could be employed regarding the marketing and 
promotion of downsizing services which are already available to tenants.   
(Reference Section 6.3, page 22) 
 
Recommendation 6 – Promotion of mutual exchange  
The Strategic Director for Regeneration and Environment is requested to consider ways in which 
mutual exchanges in the social housing sector could be encouraged. This will include use of the 
Property Pool Plus.  
(Reference Section 6.3, page 23) 
 
Recommendation 7 – The concept of Social Overdrafts  
The Strategic Director for Regeneration and Environment is requested to investigate the principles of 
Social Overdraft schemes and present those findings to the local Registered Providers.  
(Reference Section 6.3, page 23) 

Page 20



Page 9 of 39  
The Implications of Benefit Reforms on Under-Occupation – Final Report 

 
The implications for the private housing sector 
 
Recommendation 8 – Training programme for private landlords regarding benefit reforms 
The Strategic Director for Regeneration and Environment is supported in undertaking a training 
programme for private landlords to explain the changes and how prospective tenants will be affected. 
The holding of seminars regarding Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) and regulations regarding 
shared accommodation is also supported. 
(Reference Section 6.4, page 24) 
 
Recommendation 9 – Monitoring of Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) 
The Strategic Director for Regeneration and Environment should establish how the Council can better 
monitor illegal Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) in order to ensure that enforcement action is 
taken.  
(Reference Section 6.4, page 24) 
 
 
The implications for the Council and its Services 
 
Recommendation 10 – Digital Champions in Libraries 
In order to further prepare for Digital by Default and support the aims of the Go ON Wirral campaign, 
it is proposed that the Strategic Director of Transformation and Resources should set a target for 
each library to recruit a minimum of five Digital Champions to provide support for clients. It is 
acknowledged that, at some of the smaller neighbourhood sites, this may not always be practical but 
is highly encouraged.  
(Reference Section 6.5, page 26) 
 
Recommendation 11 – Toolkit for front-line staff 
The Strategic Director of Transformation and Resources is requested to ensure that all front-line staff 
in the Council have access to an online Toolkit of information to enable them to sign-post clients to 
the most appropriate advice-point regarding issues such as: 

• Benefits advice 
• Debt advice 
• Budgeting skills 
• Support with digital inclusion 
• Avoiding expensive forms of finance 
• Opening a bank account 

(Reference Section 6.5, page 27) 
 
Recommendation 12 – The importance of paying rent 
The Head of Neighbourhoods and Engagement should work in partnership with the Registered 
Providers and private landlords to promote the importance of tenants paying rent.   
(Reference Section 6.5, page 27) 
 
Recommendation 13 – The implications of the shortage of smaller accommodation for the 
Housing Needs Assessment process 
The Panel Members highlight the level of evidence relating to the shortage of smaller properties and 
request that this is taken into account by the Strategic Director for Regeneration and Environment 
during the Housing Needs Assessment process.  
(Reference Section 6.5, page 27) 
 
Recommendation 14 – Follow-up review of the impact of the reforms 
An Evaluation Impact Assessment regarding the effect of the reforms on under-occupation will be 
conducted by the Economy & Regeneration Scrutiny Committee (or successor committee) during 
Spring 2014 to assess the practical impact of the reforms. 
(Reference Section 6.5, page 28) 

Page 21



Page 10 of 39  
The Implications of Benefit Reforms on Under-Occupation – Final Report 

 
The implications for other partner organisations and their clients 
 
Recommendation 15 – The allocation of armed forces veterans on Property Pool Plus 
Armed forces veterans, by nature of their duty to the country, should be allocated as Band B on the 
housing waiting list system. 
(Reference Section 6.6, page 29) 
 
Recommendation 16 – Partnership working and self-repair projects 
The Council should act as a community leader to encourage the transfer of hard-to-let or empty 
properties to temporary supported housing providers or community organisations. Opportunities to 
support this should be explored through revenue finance/services from the Supporting People 
Programme or other relevant revenue funding streams. This support would help provide on-going 
housing management services so that vulnerable people could maintain tenancies. Consideration 
should also be given to creative ideas such as self-repair projects.  
(Reference Section 6.6, page 30) 
 
Recommendation 17 – Education regarding financial management and budgeting in schools 
The Strategic Director for Families and Wellbeing is requested to lead a dialogue with local schools to 
encourage increased provision of education regarding financial management and budgeting. The 
Schools Forum could provide a useful mechanism for this dialogue.  
(Reference Section 6.6, page 30) 
 
Recommendation 18 – Credit Unions in schools 
The Strategic Director for Families and Wellbeing is requested to hold discussions with Wirral Credit 
Union regarding the possibility of Credit Unions being established in schools in order to promote 
education regarding financial management and budgeting. 
(Reference Section 6.6, page 30) 

Page 22



Page 11 of 39  
The Implications of Benefit Reforms on Under-Occupation – Final Report 

3. PANEL MEMBERS 
 
Councillor Mark Johnston (Chair) 

 

 
The purpose of this Scrutiny Review was to gather evidence about the potential 
impact that the Under-occupancy reforms may have on local residents and partner 
organisations and then seek approaches to mitigate the effects.  Evidence would 
strongly suggest that this legislation is going to adversely impact on some of our 
most vulnerable residents and that the Council does not have the resources 
necessary to alleviate all the effects.  
 
I understand the need to reduce Welfare expenditure and understand the principle of 

ensuring that people are living in a size of accommodation that meets their needs, not necessarily 
their wants.  Over-occupation is a waste of tax payers’ money and blocks access for families in need 
of larger accommodation units.  However, I feel this legislation is being introduced too quickly, has 
some unintended consequences, does not recognise the fact there is simply not the variety of 
housing stock required and will create hardship for a group of already vulnerable residents. 
 
The recommendations of the report do go some way to mitigate impact but the fact must be faced 
that potentially several thousand local residents will be negatively affected by this new legislation.  I 
am pleased to see some last minute concessions for foster carers and children with disabilities but 
still do not feel that the National Government has built in enough resource to protect the most 
vulnerable. As a Council we will need to continue to look for creative solutions and also monitor the 
situation as further reforms will have an accumulative impact on some of our most vulnerable 
residents and those partner organisations who support them. 
 
I would like to thank all the residents, partners, Council officers and fellow Councillors who 
contributed to this Scrutiny Review.  

 
 
Other Panel Members were: 
 

 

Councillor Denise Realey  Councillor Mike Sullivan 
 

 

 
 

 

 
 

Councillor Jean Stapleton  Councillor Janette Williamson 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 

 
Page 23



Page 12 of 39  
The Implications of Benefit Reforms on Under-Occupation – Final Report 

4. BACKGROUND AND ORIGINAL BRIEF 
 
During 2012, at meetings of the Economy and Regeneration Scrutiny Committee, Members have 
reported considerable public concern regarding the impact of changes to housing benefit and welfare 
reforms specifically relating to under-occupation in both the public and private housing sectors.  
 
At the meeting of the Economy and Regeneration Scrutiny Committee, held on 5th September 2012, 
members agreed to: 
 
“Further scrutiny work being undertaken on the impact of Welfare Reform on both private and social 
housing sectors and, in particular, on under-occupancy in the social sector.” 
 
All Members of the Committee were invited to volunteer to join a Task & Finish Group to undertake 
detailed scrutiny work on this topic. Subsequently, a number of Members attended a meeting held on 
18th October 2012 at which the detailed Scope for the Review was discussed.    

 
The Scope Document for the Scrutiny Review, attached as Appendix 1 to this Report, was agreed by 
the Economy and Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny Committee held on 14th November 2012.  
The Members proposed that the focus of the Scrutiny Review was to investigate the impact of 
changes to housing benefit and the welfare reforms specifically relating to under-occupation in both 
the public and private housing sectors. Key issues for the review were identified as: 
 

• The impact of the introduction of the Housing Benefit Cap; 
• The impact of changes to the Local Housing Allowance, with special reference to the 

Shared Accommodation Rate for under-35s; 
• The allocation process for Discretionary Housing Benefit; 
• The impacts of the reforms relating to Under-occupation and how this affects 

households and communities;   
• The impact of the reforms on the Social Housing sector. 

 
Prior to the commencement of the Review, Members agreed that, as this Review was to focus 
particularly on under-occupation, the following reforms are outside the scope of this Review: 
 

• Universal Credit 
• Localised Council Tax Reduction Scheme  

 
Therefore, it is important to note that this Scrutiny Review does not cover the impact of the full 
Welfare Reform agenda, particularly as some of the reforms lie outside the remit of the Economy & 
Regeneration Scrutiny Committee.  
 
 

Page 24



Page 13 of 39  
The Implications of Benefit Reforms on Under-Occupation – Final Report 

5. METHODOLOGY FOR THE REVIEW 
 
The Panel Members have used a Select Committee model of evidence-gathering for this Scrutiny 
Review, whereby the majority of the oral evidence was gathered over two days. This model of 
scrutiny has been a new departure for Wirral Council. The two Evidence Days, held on 15th and 22nd 
January 2013, adopted the following guidelines: 
 

• The Evidence Days were held in private session. It was agreed that holding the 
sessions in public may prevent some witnesses from discussing issues freely.  

• A timetable for the Evidence Days was prepared.   
• On each day, witnesses were asked to be available at a specific time during the day 

and only for a particular length of time.  
• Some witnesses were grouped together and seen together as there was a logical link 

between them. 
• Prior to the Evidence Day, each witness was sent a copy of the Scope document for 

the Review.   
 
The attendees during the two Evidence Days are shown in Appendix 2, attached to this Report.  
 
Following the Evidence Days, Members of the Task & Finish Group met to review the evidence and 
formulate draft recommendations.  
 
In addition, written evidence was received from a variety of sources. Details are shown in Appendix 3 
to this Report. 
 
This Report reflects only the evidence found during the Review; it does not attempt to be a complete 
analysis of the topic. As agreed by the Economy and Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee at its meeting on 5th September 2012, both the Review and the subsequent Report have 
focused particularly on the social housing sector.  
 
 
 

Page 25



Page 14 of 39  
The Implications of Benefit Reforms on Under-Occupation – Final Report 

 
6. EVIDENCE AND RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
6.1 The reforms within the remit of this Scrutiny Review 
 
The Scope document for this Scrutiny Review identified three areas of the reforms for further 
investigation: 
 
Local Housing Allowance (LHA) and the shared accommodation rate in the private housing sector 
Local Housing Allowance (LHA) rates were reduced from April 2011. As a result, rates are calculated 
based on the cheapest third of rents in an area, as opposed to the bottom half. In the North West this 
translates to an average loss of £7 per week. In Wirral, the LHA rate for a three bedroom house was 
reduced from £595 to £550 per month.  
 
The shared accommodation rate (SAR) restricts single households without child dependants in the 
private rented sector to enough Housing Benefit to rent a room in a shared house. It used to apply to 
young people aged under 25 years old. In January 2012, this was raised to 35 years old. Therefore, a 
single person aged under 35 years old is now eligible for the SAR rather than the LHA one bed rate. 
The Shared Accommodation Rate applies even if the claimant is unable to find shared 
accommodation. Limited exemptions apply for more vulnerable claimants who are not expected to 
share. The exemptions include formerly homeless people who have spent at least three months in a 
hostel and received support.  
 
Under 35s affected by the loss of the SAR will lose an average of £28 per week in the North West. 
There is a large difference between the SAR and one bed LHA rate. In Wirral, the SAR is worth £64 
per week, compared to £87 for the one bed LHA rate; a difference of £23 per week.  
 
 
‘Benefit Cap’ 
A new ‘Benefit Cap’ means some tenants’ housing benefit may be reduced if they receive a high level 
of State welfare benefits. This means certain tenants of working age with children or a spouse will 
have the Cap applied to ensure they receive a maximum of £500 in benefits and a single tenant can 
only receive up to £350 per week.  This total will include all benefits not just housing benefit. The 
‘Benefit Cap’ is based on the Department of Work and Pension’s (DWP) underlying principle of 
welfare reform that people reliant on benefits should not receive a total that exceeds average 
earnings. This reform will be implemented on a phased basis with only four Local Authorities affected 
from April 2013; the remainder rolling out over the Summer period. 
 
Under-occupation rule for tenants in the social housing sector 
The Welfare Reform Act 2012 has introduced the Under-occupation rule to tenants renting in the 
social housing sector. From April 2013, all current and future working age tenants renting from a 
Local Authority, Housing Association or other Registered Social Landlord will receive Housing Benefit 
based on the need of their household. This means that working-age tenants in the social housing 
sector in receipt of Housing Benefit will experience a reduction in their benefit entitlement if they live 
in housing that is deemed to be too large for their needs. The main exception to this rule will be 
households who are not of working-age. Restrictions on entitlement to Housing Benefit based on the 
size of the accommodation occupied have long applied to claimants living in privately rented housing. 
However, this policy for the social housing sector is highly controversial and has been labeled by 
some as the “bedroom tax”.  
 
Under-occupation arises where a household lives in a property that is deemed to be too large for its 
needs. It is usually defined in terms of excess bedrooms. The classic cause of under-occupation is 
older tenants / couples remaining in their home after their children have grown up and left home. 
Family breakdown can also result in under-occupation. 

Page 26



Page 15 of 39  
The Implications of Benefit Reforms on Under-Occupation – Final Report 

 
The size criteria in the social housing sector allows one bedroom for each person or couple living as 
part of the household with the following exceptions: 
 

• Children under 16 of the same gender are expected to share (for example, two brothers or 
two sisters); 

• Children under 10 are expected to share regardless of gender (for example, a brother and a 
sister both aged under 10); 

• A tenant with a disability (or their partner) who needs a non-resident overnight carer will be 
allowed an extra room. 
 

Those who receive maximum Housing Benefit with one spare bedroom will lose 14% of their Housing 
Benefit and those with two or more spare bedrooms will lose 25%. Tenants who receive partial 
Housing Benefit will lose benefit on pro rata basis. On average, households under-occupying by one 
bedroom will lose £11 per week housing benefit and those with two or more spare bedrooms will lose 
£20 per week.   

 
Most working age housing benefit claimants deemed to have a least one spare bedroom will be 
affected. This will include those people who: 
 

• are separated from their partner but share the care of children but are not the ‘main carer’ for 
the child or children. Those who previously had an extra bedroom available for this will be 
affected; 

• need an extra bedroom for medical equipment; 
• keep a spare bedroom for an occasional visitor. 

 
It had been expected that foster carers and families with adult children serving in the armed forces 
would also be affected by the reforms. However, on 12th March 2013, the Government announced 
that there would be some exemptions relating to both these groups. Further clarification from the 
Department for Work and Pensions is expected shortly.  
 
 
 

Page 27



Page 16 of 39  
The Implications of Benefit Reforms on Under-Occupation – Final Report 

6.2 The implications for tenants  
 
The number of tenants affected by the Shared Accommodation Rate in the private sector 
The Shared Accommodation Rate level which limits the maximum Housing Benefit / Local Housing 
Allowance (LHA) rate to that of a room in a shared house or flat with some limited exceptions was 
extended to single claimants under 35 yrs from the previous 25 year old limit. At 31 December 2012, 
1,166 claimants in Wirral were affected by this restriction to the level of help they can have with their 
rent. Of these, 712 are over 25 years old. It is the latter group who are affected by the shared 
accommodation rate being extended to all those single claimants under 35 years old, the reform 
introduced from January 2012. In Wirral, claims for consideration of additional, temporary support 
through the Discretionary Housing Payment fund to ease the impact of the transition to a reduced 
benefit payment were invited from all claimants over 34 years of age. (Note that further details 
regarding the operation of the Discretionary Housing Payments system are available later in this 
Report – see page 19). 
 
It is reported that there is insufficient shared accommodation in many parts of the country to house 
everyone subject to the SAR. This means many claimants are forced to rent more expensive self-
contained accommodation and make up shortfalls from other income. There is concern that the 
under-35s reform is significantly affecting single males, particularly those who have access to 
children. If a single parent, as a result of the reforms, downsizes to a smaller property, it may become 
difficult for the children to stay overnight.   
 
The impact of the ‘Benefit Cap’ 
The introduction of the Total Household ‘Benefit Cap’, currently to be set at £26,000 per annum (£500 
per week) for families and couples and £18,200 per annum (£350 per week) for single claimants, will 
impact on some families in Wirral. As at the end of January 2013, the estimated numbers of those 
likely to be affected were 148 families in the private rented sector and 68 families in the social rented 
sector. The types of family most likely to be affected are typically those with a large number of 
children, with a larger property and a higher rent to pay. Exemptions will be applied for those 
households in receipt of certain disability benefits.   
 
The perception of under-occupation in the social housing sector  
Research carried out by the Cambridge Centre for Housing and Planning Research (CCHPR) for the 
Housing Futures Network indicates that a substantial number of under-occupying households do not 
regard themselves as such. Their “spare” bedrooms are used by children (irrespective of age and 
gender) who have their own rooms. Spare bedrooms are used when children visit at weekends as 
part of a shared parenting arrangement. In addition, a number of couples sleep in separate 
bedrooms, often for medical reasons and rooms are also used for storing disability related equipment. 
All of these points were reiterated during the Evidence Days held for this Scrutiny Review. 
 
The government has said that the reform is, in part, designed to make better use of social housing 
stock. A number of witnesses recognised the need to free up genuinely under-occupied homes for 
overcrowded families but argued that the required change could be better achieved through 
incentives.   
 
It is expected that a significant number of households will not willingly move. Initial research by the 
Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) into the impact of the Local Housing Allowance (LHA) 
changes found households do not want to move and if they will consider it, they do not want to move 
far. Instead, many people plan to respond to housing benefit reductions by reducing essential and 
non-essential spending, borrowing or increasing their earnings where possible.  
 
Numbers of tenants affected in Wirral by the Under-occupation rule in the social housing sector 
The Council’s Housing Benefits team has identified 4,600 Registered Provider tenants who will be 
affected by the under-occupation rule. Of those, 3,600 are under-occupying by one bedroom; 1,000 
under-occupying by two or more rooms. It is particularly difficult to estimate how tenants will react in  

Page 28



Page 17 of 39  
The Implications of Benefit Reforms on Under-Occupation – Final Report 

April when the housing benefit reductions (associated with the under-occupation rule) begin to be 
implemented. A survey of social housing tenants undertaken by a local social housing provider has 
indicated that 21% of tenants were interested in moving while 43% of tenants were not willing to 
move. Likewise, 43% of tenants indicated that they were willing to try to pay the charge whereas 
13% were not willing to pay.  
 
Availability of advice to tenants in the social housing sector  
As stated above, the Council’s Housing Benefits team has sent an explanatory letter and review form 
to all those tenants identified as potentially being affected. Concern was expressed among the Panel 
Members that, at the time of the Evidence Days, less than a quarter of the 4,600 forms had been 
returned. In addition, the Registered Providers are all making continued efforts to contact tenants via 
leaflets and personal contact. The tenants attending the Evidence Days confirmed that some advice 
had been received. However, there was further evidence of a significant number of tenants currently 
maintaining a ‘head in the sand’ attitude. It was considered by professional advice workers that the 
people most likely to encounter problems are those who are least likely to take budgeting advice. It 
was clear that further work was required to ensure that the implications of the reforms were better 
understood by tenants.  
 
Personal impact of the reform on tenants in the social housing sector 
It is apparent from the evidence provided during the Evidence Days that some individuals are finding 
the proposals traumatic which, in some cases, are creating extreme anxiety. Reduced income will 
cause increased hardship for tenants. The options available to tenants appear to include: 

• Moving to a smaller property (if available) 
• Reducing spending or increasing income 
• Taking in a lodger 
• Applying for support from Discretionary Housing Payments 

 
 
One tenant described the options available as: 
“Heat or eat or pay the rent” 
 
For some tenants, barriers relating to moving house included the: 

• availability of alternative, smaller accommodation; 
• potential loss of local facilities that are familiar 
• strong ties to the local community including the support of friends, neighbours and 

family. This is particularly important to more vulnerable tenants. 
• financial cost of moving 
• stress associated with the process 

 
 
In addition, there is the emotional wrench of having to contemplate moving house, summed up by 
the phrase: 
“It’s not a house, it’s a home” 
 
During the Evidence Days, the shortage of one and two bedroom properties in Wirral’s social 
housing sector was highlighted repeatedly. Consequently, the ability to downsize is seen as a real 
barrier for tenants even if they were willing to do so. This issue is covered in more detail later in this 
Report (see Section 6.3 – The implications for social housing providers).     
 
In addition, there may be a consequence for some communities. The changes to Local Housing 
Allowance for private tenants and Housing Benefit for social tenants are likely to have impacts upon 
the extent to which people can afford to live in certain neighbourhoods. There may be movements to 
seek cheaper rental property or people downsizing to social housing that better meets their 
requirements without under-occupancy penalties. 
 

Page 29



Page 18 of 39  
The Implications of Benefit Reforms on Under-Occupation – Final Report 

 
Taking in a lodger in the social housing sector  
One way that tenants can potentially supplement their income and which may provide a partial 
solution for some tenants is to take in a lodger. Housing Benefit / Council Tax Benefit Circular 
A4/2012 makes it clear that, until Universal Credit is introduced, lodgers are allowed a room under 
the size criteria. The CIH (Chartered Institute of Housing) has prepared a document for social 
landlords entitled ‘How to….support tenants to find a lodger’. Similar information has already been 
added to the Council’s website. This will clearly not be an acceptable route for many tenants, 
although it may be to some.    
 
Evidence of hardship 
Although clearly not resulting from the introduction of the under-occupation rule, there is already 
evidence of hardship. Shelter has reported that nationally almost one million people used a payday 
loan to pay their rent or mortgage in 2012. In addition, 2.8 million people used an unauthorised 
overdraft to help pay their rent or mortgage. The expectation of Shelter is that these figures are likely 
to rise during 2013. At a local level, there is evidence of an increase in homelessness for single 
people; the indicator being the usage of the Night Shelter. The ‘No Second Night Out’ protocol is in 
place in Wirral to support those people. That point is reinforced by Housing Options reporting that 
Wirral has witnessed an increase in homelessness which is faster than the national average. 
Likewise, Citizens Advice Bureau reported an increase in the caseload regarding benefit and debt 
problems, with most enquiries for advice coming from areas of high social deprivation.  There was a 
perception that a consequence of the reforms will be that the most disadvantaged, who are often less 
able to support themselves, will suffer disproportionally. Among professionals, there is a fear of 
increased homelessness and family breakdown. A contributor concluded that: 
“There will be unfortunate casualties”.    
 
A strong perception among witnesses was that problems will accumulate over time, with the biggest 
problems arising from “those who bury their heads in their hands”. It was argued by a number of 
contributors that a significant number of tenants may be able to manage the rent increase arising 
from the under-occupation rule but the cumulative effect alongside other reforms will be far greater, 
resulting in difficulties in paying. Officers responsible for offering front-line support to the public 
considered that, in general, clients are not ready and many may not be able to cope.  
 
Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP) 
Discretionary Housing Payments (DHP) are extra payments that can be made by a Local Authority to 
a claimant in order to help pay rent. (Until 31st March 2013, claimants could also previously apply for 
support with Council Tax payments). The payments can be allocated to people claiming benefit who 
need more help with their housing costs if these are more than the amount of benefit they receive. It 
is intended that the payments are only helping with short-term problems and are not intended to 
cover long-term situations with rent. Therefore, when the under-occupation rule is introduced in April 
2013, benefit recipients will be able to claim for DHP for a transitionary period.     
 
The Government allocates funding to each Local Authority to be used for DHP on an annual basis, 
although any under-spend can be carried forward. The Government contribution to Wirral for 
2012/2013 was £522,238. As at January 22nd 2013, only £58,000 remained unallocated. The 
Government contribution for 2013/2014 is £917,214. The increase is intended to reflect the expected 
increase in demand resulting from the introduction of further welfare reforms. In addition, the 
Government sets a permitted total DHP spend which enables Local Authorities to allocate additional 
funding to the DHP fund. However, this additional funding would have to be found from within the 
Council’s own resources. The permitted total 2013/2014 DHP spend for Wirral has been set at 
£2,293,035. Therefore, in theory, the Council could allocate up to an additional £1,375,821 to the 
DHP fund if resources were available. In the past, Wirral has never spent more than the Government 
contribution and there is currently no budget to top-up the DHP fund. Therefore, at this stage, only the 
Government contribution of £917,214 has been allocated to Wirral’s DHP fund for 2013/2014. The 
number of DHP applications received and considered during 2011/2012 was 1,063 whereas 1,128 
applications have been received in respect of the current year, that is, 1st April 2012 up to 27th 
January 2013.  

Page 30



Page 19 of 39  
The Implications of Benefit Reforms on Under-Occupation – Final Report 

 
It is clear from the evidence before the Panel Members that demand for the DHP resources will 
continue to increase. Shelter has argued that, although the budget for DHP has increased, the 
additional spending will not be sufficient to support all households affected by the benefit reforms and 
Local Authorities will have to make hard choices about who they prioritise. As a response, the Panel 
Members suggest that clear criteria should be put in place to ensure that the resources are allocated 
as fairly as possible and the most deserving cases are recognised.  
 

Recommendation 1 – Criteria for the allocation of Discretionary Housing Payment 
The Strategic Director of Transformation and Resources is requested to ensure that, whilst every 
application will be considered on its individual merits, the allocation of Discretionary Housing 
Payment is based on well-defined and quantifiable criteria. The criteria should be defined by the 
identification of the most vulnerable groups. The criteria should be easily understood by clients, for 
example, based on a points system and should be available for all front-line staff in the Toolkit (see 
Recommendation 11). 

 
 
Adaptations for tenants with disabilities living in the social housing sector 
There is concern that disabled people living in specially adapted properties could be forced to move, 
requiring adaptations to be repeated at additional cost. Wirral Partnership Homes have reported that, 
for their stock alone, to fund the same adaptation work for a second time for tenants who have to 
move to smaller accommodation will cost in the region of £500,000. Even if WPH were able to do this 
work, there would be considerable inconvenience to vulnerable tenants. It is well argued that people 
with disabilities often need extra space for wheelchairs and other equipment or partners may need a 
separate bedroom for medical reasons. The Department for Work and Pensions (DWP) has 
responded by arguing that Local Authorities should avoid the need for such tenants to move by 
prioritising DHP funding for disabled people with significant adaptations.  
 
The Panel Members were made aware that, in the past, Wirral Council has not used DHP to 
specifically ensure that people with adaptations are protected. The view was expressed by tenants 
that, if the tenant is in a heavily adapted property, people should be exempt from the payments or, as 
a minimum, receive additional support to remain in their property.    
 

Recommendation 2 – Tenants with disabilities 
Tenants living in properties with major adaptations and affected by the under-occupation rule should 
be treated as a high priority within the Discretionary Housing Payment criteria.  

 
 
Foster carers living in the social housing sector 
At the time of the Evidence Days, foster carers living in social housing and claiming housing benefit 
would have been adversely affected by the under-occupation rule. Foster children were not allowable 
in the under-occupancy calculation. Therefore, as an example, if a foster carer living in a three 
bedroom house is caring for two foster children, each occupying a bedroom, the family would be 
deemed to be under-occupying by two bedrooms and will face a reduction of 25% in the housing 
benefit received (if the family is receiving maximum housing benefit). Current indications show 
potentially 16 families in Wirral may be affected. Although relatively few in number, there was a fear 
among social care professionals that the introduction of the under-occupation rule may lead to a 
reduction in the number of foster carers due to the additional cost of providing an extra bedroom(s). 
As part of the application to become a foster carer, potential foster carers are always asked “Have 
you got a spare bedroom?” Therefore, the availability of spare bedrooms is a necessity in order to 
undertake the role. 

Page 31



Page 20 of 39  
The Implications of Benefit Reforms on Under-Occupation – Final Report 

It is also interesting to note that the Fostering Standards currently stipulate that any child over three 
should have a single room if they want to. STANDARD 10 of the ‘Fostering Services: National 
Minimum Standards’ published by the Department of Education states: 
“In the foster home, each child over the age of three should have their own bedroom” 
 
Clearly, there was a contradiction with the under-occupation rule. 
 
The Panel Members had originally intended to propose that Wirral Council should develop a method 
of re-imbursement for the relatively small number of foster carers who would be adversely affected by 
the reform. However, on 12th March 2013, the Government has announced that approved foster 
carers will be allowed one room only for a foster child, although additional spare bedrooms may 
continue to attract the under-occupancy reduction. As an example, a single foster carer with four 
foster children will be assessed on the basis of needing two bedrooms.  
 
The current advice is that, nationally, approximately 5,000 approved foster carers will be affected 
positively by this latest amendment to the under-occupation rule. They will be allowed an additional 
room as long as they have fostered a child or become a registered carer in the past 12 months. The 
Panel Members welcome this development but recognise that clarity is still needed to ensure that no 
foster carers are detrimentally affected by the under-occupancy reform.   
 

Recommendation 3 – Foster carers 
The Strategic Director for Families and Wellbeing is requested to monitor any changes to the under-
occupation rules specifically affecting foster carers. Should there be adverse effects on any foster 
carers, the Strategic Director is requested to consider the introduction of an additional monthly fixed 
fee, paid regardless of whether a child is in place, in order to offset the implications of the under-
occupation rules for those foster carers affected.  

 
 

Page 32



Page 21 of 39  
The Implications of Benefit Reforms on Under-Occupation – Final Report 

6.3 The implications for social housing providers 
 
The impact on Registered Providers as a business 
The attendees from Registered Providers highlighted the possibility of increased bad debt arising 
from the implementation of the under-occupation rule. For Wirral Partnership Homes, with over 2,600 
affected tenants identified, the average additional rent to pay is £717 per year. One contributor 
commented: 
“There is a danger of the business being de-stabilised by bad debt, particularly for smaller 
organisations. If we do nothing about rent collection we will be de-stabilised”.   
 
In order to mitigate risks, it will be necessary to reduce support services in order to provide more 
front-line services. However, it was also highlighted that the impact may be a “trickle” as individual 
debts slowly build up. It is expected that the Registered Providers will be forced to pursue liabilities in 
a “firm but fair” way.  
 
In the future, it would be helpful if potential tenants were better advised on what they could afford 
regarding their housing costs prior to them applying for tenancies. It is suggested that the Property 
Pool Plus website could be enhanced to provide additional information to potential tenants. 
 

Recommendation 4 – Enhancements to the Property Pool Plus website  
The Strategic Director for Regeneration and Environment should consider the enhancement of the 
Property Pool Plus (PPP) website to ensure that a benefits calculator and other relevant information 
is available at the time when tenants are selecting and applying for properties. 

 
 
Relationship with tenants and communities 
Traditionally, Registered Providers have done a significant amount of work in order to strengthen 
communities within which they operate, for example, regarding health issues and worklessness. 
Reduced funding is now forcing the priorities for Registered Providers to be changed. The Registered 
Providers are being presented with real choices between core services as a landlord and other 
services. In the future, they will have to ensure investment in core services, such as collecting rent, 
ensuring an effective repairs and maintenance process and an extension of support and advice 
services to tenants. Therefore, inevitably, there will be an impact on the wider community. One 
representative of the Registered Providers suggested to the Panel Members that the Local Authority 
will need to lessen expectations regarding the contribution to communities. Similarly, the way that 
Registered Providers interact with tenants will change, for example, some may have to review the 
availability of local offices where usage is low.  
 
 
Availability of smaller properties  
The total number of one bedroom properties owned by Registered Providers in Wirral is 6,093.  This 
represents 26.5% of the total stock of social housing.  However, of that total, 296 are supported 
housing and 1,701 are sheltered accommodation. As an indication of turnover, during 2012, 510 one 
bedroom properties were let through Wirral Partnership Homes. Indeed, WPH have estimated that, 
assuming that under-occupied tenants are willing to consider moving, and they accept any one bed 
flat that they are offered, and no flats are offered to anyone on Property Pool Plus, it will take over 
five years to re-house those affected, given current vacancy rates.  
 
There was also a shared perception among tenants that there is a shortage of smaller properties in 
the social housing sector and, therefore, there is a significant barrier towards them downsizing. One 
tenant informed the Panel Members that, when checking Property Pool Plus on a regular basis, only 
limited one bedroom properties are available. Furthermore, the properties that were available 
required a higher rent than the tenant’s current three-bedroom property. Although there are problems  

Page 33



Page 22 of 39  
The Implications of Benefit Reforms on Under-Occupation – Final Report 

with the availability of smaller bedroom properties, it may be possible to encourage some tenants to 
downsize. Therefore, the Panel Members are suggesting that further consideration should be given to 
the methods employed to promote the assistance and support available to tenants who may consider 
downsizing.  
 

Recommendation 5 – Downsizing Support 
The Strategic Director for Regeneration and Environment is requested to discuss with the Registered 
Providers whether a more joined-up approach could be employed regarding the marketing and 
promotion of downsizing services which are already available to tenants.   

 
A further way in which under-occupying tenants may be encouraged to move property and downsize 
is to increase the priority of such tenants within the banding system on Property Pool Plus. The 
Government’s Allocation of accommodation: Guidance for local housing authorities in England (June 
2012) stresses the importance of authorities prioritising transfer applications from under-occupying 
tenants who are prepared to downsize:  

“Authorities should consider the importance of giving social tenants who under-occupy their 
accommodation appropriate priority for a transfer. This will be important in light of the 
measure in the Welfare Reform Act 2012 which will reduce Housing Benefit entitlement for 
working age social sector tenants who under-occupy their property (measured in accordance 
with the Local Housing Allowance size criteria) from April 2013. Authorities should also 
consider whether there are other provisions that might make it more difficult for under-
occupiers to move, such as a prohibition against tenants with minor rent arrears transferring, 
and the scope for removing or revising these in relation to under-occupiers”. 

 
Under the current scheme, those applicants to Property Pool Plus who are deemed as ‘Under 
occupation’ are allocated to Band B (‘High Priority to Move’). The Panel Members considered that this 
was the appropriate priority for such tenants.  
 
As a general point, the Registered Providers may need to reconsider the rule regarding the presence 
of arrears disqualifying a tenant from moving. In the future, it may become beneficial to allow tenants 
in arrears to become eligible for a transfer if it enables that tenant to downsize.  
 
Plans for building more smaller units of accommodation in the social housing sector 
The Registered Providers reported that little building of one bedroom accommodation has taken 
place for several years. The development programme is a long-term process, with plans for up to 30 
years in advance. In the past, the view was that there were too many flats and, indeed, some 
unpopular bedsit flats have been demolished by a Registered Provider relatively recently. Now, the 
demand for smaller properties has suddenly increased and it is very difficult for the Registered 
Providers to respond quickly. The main aim for the Registered Providers is to provide a balance of 
mixed accommodation. The option of converting three bedroom properties into flats has been 
investigated by some Registered Providers. However, the cost of conversion did not represent value 
for money. It was recognised by some of the Registered Provider representatives that there needs to 
be a more flexible approach to the management and marketing of some unpopular properties.      
 
Re-designation of rooms 
A further potential response of Registered Providers is the re-designation of rooms. If there were, for 
example, a very small room such as a box room that the landlord called a bedroom, they might 
reconsider whether to count that room when deciding on the number of bedrooms that should be 
written into the tenancy, as well as on the rent associated with it. Therefore, a property could be re-
designated, for example, from a three to a two bedroom property. It is reported that Knowsley 
Housing Trust is considering this approach for some of its properties. However, the Panel Members 
were informed that such an approach would reduce the income to the business. In Wirral, this did not 
appear to be an approach that will be widely employed.  

Page 34



Page 23 of 39  
The Implications of Benefit Reforms on Under-Occupation – Final Report 

 
A survey conducted by Inside Housing has indicated that a majority of the largest social landlords in 
England are not considering the reclassification of their properties:  
“Out of 18 landlords contacted in a snap survey by Inside Housing, 13 said they were not planning to 
reclassify homes so tenants are no longer judged to have a spare room under the new rules, which 
come into effect next April. The resulting drop in rental income and concerns about existing loan 
agreements were cited as factors for not adopting the approach”.1 
 
Mutual Exchange 
There is evidence that the Under-occupation rule is having an impact on tenants’ behaviours as the 
number registered for smaller properties on Property Pool Plus have risen significantly. The Panel 
Members were informed that the ability to use Property Pool Plus to promote mutual exchanges has 
not yet been maximized. According to Property Pool Plus, 64 tenants have expressed interest but 
only two have been approved by Registered Providers. In these cases, the proposed exchange may 
have been refused if a tenant has not been paying rent or has not been a satisfactory tenant. It was 
suggested that more could be done to encourage mutual exchange, for example, by all tenants being 
written to in order to explain the process and the potential advantages. 
 

Recommendation 6 – Promotion of mutual exchange  
The Strategic Director for Regeneration and Environment is requested to consider ways in which 
mutual exchanges in the social housing sector could be encouraged. This will include use of the 
Property Pool Plus.  

 
 
Social Overdrafts  
Subsequent to the Evidence Days for this Scrutiny Review, some members attended a Welfare 
Reform Event, organised by Wirral Council in partnership with the DWP, Merseyside Local Authorities 
and other partners. The concept of Social Overdrafts was discussed. As an example, a tenant is 60 
years old and has one year and five months remaining until she is not of working age2. Therefore, she 
will be subject to the Under-occupation rule for the next one year and five months. With the 
agreement of the Registered Provider, the tenant will pay what she can afford for the duration of 
those 17 months and the debt generated is converted into a Social Overdraft with the Registered 
Provider. Once she reaches the age when she is eligible for full Housing Benefit payments, she will 
continue to make overpayments until the debt is recovered. It was noted that such creative options 
may enable some tenants to remain in their homes and, in those cases, may also be cost-effective for 
the Registered Provider. The Panel Members propose that the concept of Social Overdrafts should 
be investigated further.  
 

Recommendation 7 – The concept of Social Overdrafts  
The Strategic Director for Regeneration and Environment is requested to investigate the principles of 
Social Overdraft schemes and present those findings to the local Registered Providers.  

 
 
 

                                                 
1 Inside Housing, ‘Landlords do not plan to reclassify their homes’ 1st June 2012 
2 For the purposes of Housing Benefit applicants, the definition of working age is anybody who is not of pension credit age 
(61years and 5 months) or not part of a couple where one partner is of pension credit age.  
 Page 35



Page 24 of 39  
The Implications of Benefit Reforms on Under-Occupation – Final Report 

 
6.4 The implications for the private housing sector 
 
The implementation of the shared accommodation rate changes for tenants in the private sector were 
planned over a period of time. The Panel Members were informed that the private landlords planned 
ahead some time ago by starting to reduce the number of under-35 tenants who were in receipt of 
Local Housing Allowance. It is expected that his trend will continue. In general, representatives of the 
private housing sector expressed great concern for the future regarding the impact of the wider 
welfare reforms, particularly the introduction of Universal Credit. They predicted difficult times ahead 
with the potential for an increase in tenants unwilling or unable to pay rents, an increase in evictions 
and repossessions leading to a reduction in income for their businesses. Evidence suggested that 
there is reluctance by some private sector landlords to house some tenants because of the risk of 
non-payment of rent and the inevitable occurrence of arrears. It was also pointed out that private 
landlords are more willing to take tenants on benefits if there are direct payments to the landlord.  
 
The welfare reform agenda in general, specifically where impacting on the private housing sector, has 
been a significant topic of interest at meetings of the Private Landlord Forum. The Panel Members 
were informed that these meetings are well attended, particularly at a time of reforms. However, 
given the large number of private landlords, the Panel Members support the continued dialogue with 
the private housing landlords. In addition, the Council has a responsibility to make landlords aware of 
their responsibilities, especially with regard to shared accommodation. 
 
Recommendation 8 – Training programme for private landlords regarding benefit reforms 
The Strategic Director for Regeneration and Environment is supported in undertaking a training 
programme for private landlords to explain the changes and how prospective tenants will be affected. 
The holding of seminars regarding Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) and regulations regarding 
shared accommodation is also supported. 

 
It is widely anticipated, by both landlords and Council officers, that there will be a rise in demand from 
the under 35 year olds for bedsit-type accommodation in the private sector. It is predicted that those 
landlords operating in the private sector will see the opportunity to expand the number of smaller 
units. The consequence will be an increase in the numbers of Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO) 
with landlords buying cheaper properties and converting them for shared accommodation and smaller 
units. From a Council perspective, this would lead to the necessity for an increase in the number of 
HMO property inspections. Indeed, the Housing Division is already reporting an increased workload 
for the HMO inspection team, with an increase in the number of self-contained flats and bedsit type 
accommodation. 
 
Recommendation 9 – Monitoring of Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs)  
The Strategic Director for Regeneration and Environment should establish how the Council can better 
monitor illegal Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMOs) in order to ensure that enforcement action is 
taken.  

 
In order to maintain standards in the private housing sector, the Landlords Accreditation scheme is 
operated. However, as the scheme is voluntary, only 28 landlords are currently members. Whereas 
those landlords who are members of the scheme welcome it, one landlord argued that many tenants 
are not aware of the scheme or its benefits. The Panel Members were told that some Councils, for 
example, Newham Council now operate compulsory accreditation schemes. It is understood that 
Liverpool City Council is considering the introduction of such a scheme. 

Page 36



Page 25 of 39  
The Implications of Benefit Reforms on Under-Occupation – Final Report 

 
There are also concerns regarding the impact that an expansion of HMOs could have on specific 
neighbourhoods, effectively changing the nature of the local community and causing tensions with 
existing residents. Some Councils have looked for solutions to try to prevent particularly intense 
concentrations of HMOs. As an example, Cheshire West and Chester Council has recently 
introduced planning restrictions that will prevent family homes from being converted into houses of 
multiple occupation in Chester’s Garden Quarter without first applying for planning permission. 
Previously, landlords could convert family houses into bedsit accommodation for up to six people 
without the need for planning permission. The Council has now put in place an Article 4 direction 
which means that landlords will need to make a planning application to convert properties. 
 
 

Page 37



Page 26 of 39  
The Implications of Benefit Reforms on Under-Occupation – Final Report 

6.5 The implications for the Council and its Services 
 
Front-line services 
It is anticipated that the welfare reforms, including the changes to the under-occupation rules, will 
have a significant input on the number of queries received by front-line staff, including the One Stop 
Shops. It was reported that the Conway Centre One Stop Shop has already seen an increase in the 
number of clients and that trend is expected to continue. In addition, for the future, the introduction of 
the ‘Digital by Default’ approach will make it harder to speak to a DWP adviser. This is likely to 
encourage more claimants, who are seeking advice, to attend the One Stop Shops. The Local 
Authority is likely to be seen as an alternative contact point. Panel Members were informed that only 
approximately 26% of tenants have their own access to the Internet. 
 
A number of options for dealing with the increased demand for the Council’s advice services are 
being considered: 
 

• The possibility of providing additional resource “at front of house” by re-deploying staff from 
elsewhere 

• Existing staff are being trained so that they have the appropriate knowledge 
• The possible introduction of an appointments system or a triage system in One Stop Shops 

(but not at every site) 
• The possible introduction of a messaging system on front of calls when received by the Call 

Centre, that is, an automatic push-button phone system in order to better manage phone calls 
• Self-access terminals in the Conway Centre (as a response to the Universal Credit being 

Digital by Default) 
• Creating Digital Champions in libraries 
• The Citizens Advice Bureau will be co-locating into West Kirby One Stop Shop and holding 

surgeries in some One Stop Shops 
 
The Panel Members fully support the approaches being taken to ensure that the front-line service is 
as efficient and effective as possible. The partnership working is of particular note. Such 
developments are encouraged for the future. The creation and expansion of Digital Champions in 
libraries is another initiative that the Panel Members fully endorse, alongside the Go ON Wirral3 
campaign with which the Council is currently engaged.  
 

Recommendation 10 – Digital Champions in Libraries 
In order to further prepare for Digital by Default and support the aims of the Go ON Wirral campaign, 
it is proposed that the Strategic Director of Transformation and Resources should set a target for 
each library to recruit a minimum of five Digital Champions to provide support for clients. It is 
acknowledged that, at some of the smaller neighbourhood sites, this may not always be practical but 
is highly encouraged. 

 
There are clearly concerns regarding resources and there may be limits to the number of clients who 
can be seen. Some of the specialist advice provided by, for example, the Welfare Rights advisers and 
the Housing Options advisers can be complicated and as legislation changes, the advisers need to 
continually update their knowledge. With reducing resources, the delivery of such advice becomes 
more difficult and waiting times may increase. A similar scenario applies to some of the Council’s 
partners, such as the Citizens Advice Bureau.  
 
For all front-line advisers, it is essential that training continues to be maintained. In particular, it is 
important that front-line staff are able to sign-post clients to the most effective service to meet their 
individual requirements.  
 

                                                 
3 Go ON is a national campaign which is working to support the 8.1 million people in the UK (1 in 5 of the adult 
population) who have never used the internet. 
 Page 38



Page 27 of 39  
The Implications of Benefit Reforms on Under-Occupation – Final Report 

 

Recommendation 11 – Toolkit for front-line staff 
The Strategic Director of Transformation and Resources is requested to ensure that all front-line staff 
in the Council have access to an online Toolkit of information to enable them to sign-post clients to 
the most appropriate advice-point regarding issues such as: 
- Benefits advice 
- Debt advice 
- Budgeting skills 
- Support with digital inclusion 
- Avoiding expensive forms of finance 
- Opening a bank account 

 
Council Finances 
The level of debt that arises in some households as a result of the under-occupation rule (and other 
welfare reforms) could have a direct impact on the Council’s finances. As the level of Council Tax 
Benefit is due to be reduced from April 2013, all households will be responsible for paying a minimum 
of 22% of their Council Tax (although locally set criteria will continue to provide some additional 
support to pensioners and other households deemed as ‘vulnerable’). It is likely, however, that some 
households will find it difficult to pay and the levels of debt to the Council may increase.  
 
Coordination & Communication 
The Panel Members heard evidence from representatives of the local landlords, both in the social 
and private housing sectors, that there was a role for the Local Authority in communication and 
coordination of messages to residents. Clearly, the work that the Housing Benefits team is currently 
undertaking needs to continue, working alongside the landlords.  
 
The direct payment of benefits to the claimant (rather than to the landlord) is likely to be linked to the 
introduction of the Universal Credit for the vast majority of claimants, as will the introduction of 
monthly benefit payments (as opposed to weekly payments). There is a cohort of tenants who have 
been on benefits for a long time and, therefore, in the past, have not directly paid rent. For some 
tenants, a major change in attitude towards paying rent will be needed. It is necessary to counter the 
view of a minority of tenants that “mobile phone costs are a higher priority than rent”.  
The Panel Members, therefore, suggest that pre-emptive action be taken with the Council working 
alongside landlords, both in the social and private housing sectors, in order to raise the profile of the 
importance of paying rent and, therefore, keeping a home. 
 

Recommendation 12 – The importance of paying rent 
The Head of Neighbourhoods and Engagement should work in partnership with the Registered 
Providers and private landlords to promote the importance of tenants paying rent.   

 
Housing Needs Assessment 
Section 6.3 above (The implications for the social housing sector) analysed the current supply of one 
bedroom properties and the impact that the under-occupation rule is likely to have on the demand for 
smaller properties. As the Council undertakes the Housing Needs Assessment for the Borough, the 
Panel Members request that such evidence is taken into account.  
 

Recommendation 13 – The implications of the shortage of smaller accommodation for the 
Housing Needs Assessment process 
The Panel Members highlight the level of evidence relating to the shortage of smaller properties and 
request that this is taken into account by the Strategic Director for Regeneration and Environment 
during the Housing Needs Assessment process.  

 
 

Page 39



Page 28 of 39  
The Implications of Benefit Reforms on Under-Occupation – Final Report 

 
Future monitoring of the impact of the reforms   
It is anticipated that some of the implications of the welfare reforms, of which the under-occupation 
rule is just a part, will take some time to develop and to become apparent. The reforms may also lead 
to some behavioural change. The Panel Members are, therefore, recommending that a follow-up 
review takes place in approximately 12 months’ time (Spring 2014) in order to monitor the actual 
implications. It was suggested that this timescale would enable the Council and partners to gather 
statistical evidence to support the follow-up review. 
 

Recommendation 14 – Follow-up review of the impact of the reforms 
An Evaluation Impact Assessment regarding the effect of the reforms on under-occupation will be 
conducted by the Economy & Regeneration Scrutiny Committee (or successor committee) during 
Spring 2014 to assess the practical impact of the reforms. 

 
 

Page 40



Page 29 of 39  
The Implications of Benefit Reforms on Under-Occupation – Final Report 

6.6 The implications for other partner organisations and their clients 
 
Advice Services 
It is extremely likely that demand for advice and support will increase, at least in the short-term. 
Some attendees at the Evidence Days expressed concern regarding the voluntary and community 
sector’s ability to continue the level of advocacy services due to reduced finances. For instance, the 
Citizens Advice Bureau has a reputation for providing high quality advice on benefits, debt and 
welfare rights. In many instances, cases can be complex, being a combination of benefit, housing 
and debt problems, sometimes extending into relationship problems and changes in behaviour. 
However, the local organisation is currently losing funding and the number of paid advisers has been 
reduced. The case was made by some contributors that there is some scope to improve partner 
working in order to avoid duplication of services and to make the most effective use of resources.  
 
Ex-armed forces veterans 
The Panel Members were informed that finding one bedroom accommodation is “really, really bad”. 
As a result, armed forces veterans often find accommodation in deprived areas where unemployment 
is high. As a minimum, Post Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) should be taken into account within 
the housing assessment process, although many veterans do not recognise that they need help and 
support. The Panel Members are suggesting that armed forces veterans, in recognition of their duty 
to the country and of the problems that many encounter in finding suitable accommodation, should be 
allocated as Band B on the housing waiting list (Property Pool Plus).  
 

Recommendation 15 – The allocation of armed forces veterans on Property Pool Plus 
Armed forces veterans, by nature of their duty to the country, should be allocated as Band B on the 
housing waiting list system. 

 
On leaving the services, the Panel Members were informed that many veterans feel that little support 
is available. They were informed that: 
“When you join the forces no one teaches you how to budget. Now with the bedroom tax a lot of 
single lads will struggle. In the forces, you are used to things getting done for you”.  
  
Although charities such as Combat Stress4 provide excellent local support, many ex-services 
personnel feel lacking in support. As a result, Wirral’s Veterans Centre has been established with 
support from the Council.  
 
Supported Accommodation 
Once in supported accommodation, there are limited options, particularly for young people, for 
moving on, both in terms of finding alternative accommodation and in finding employment. As an 
alternative, the Panel Members were informed that the providers of supported accommodation are 
increasingly looking at shared tenancies as a viable ‘move-on’ option. This involves the providers 
needing to identify who can live with whom and having to monitor relationships. Increasingly, this can 
involve providing support to people with mental health issues who are living in the community. 
 
It has been concluded by the Panel Members that there may be scope for bringing organisations 
together to provide a framework for bringing back hard-to-let or empty properties into use. The idea of 
“self-repair” could be positive if supported by the Council and Registered Providers. There may be the 
potential for organisations such as temporary accommodation providers / hostels to act as a 
managing agency for properties on behalf of a Registered Provider for use as a move-on property. 
This may also be a productive option for groups such as the Veterans Centre, as has been the case 
with empty homes being put to use by a scheme in Burnley. During the Evidence Days, contributors 
urged the Council to act as a community leader in providing leadership to bring partners together and 
develop consortia-type solutions.   
 

                                                 
4 Combat Stress is a mental health charity in the UK that helps ex-service personnel suffering from psychological injuries 
and mental health problems. 
 Page 41



Page 30 of 39  
The Implications of Benefit Reforms on Under-Occupation – Final Report 

Recommendation 16 – Partnership working and self-repair projects  
The Council should act as a community leader to encourage the transfer of hard-to-let or empty 
properties to temporary supported housing providers or community organisations. Opportunities to 
support this should be explored through revenue finance/services from the Supporting People 
Programme or other relevant revenue funding streams. This support would help provide on-going 
housing management services so that vulnerable people could maintain tenancies. Consideration 
should also be given to creative ideas such as self-repair projects.  

 
Probation Service 
The Probation Service informed the Panel Members that it is already difficult to find suitable 
accommodation for ex-offenders. The situation will be exacerbated by the introduction of the 
under-occupation rule. As an example, in the past, if there was a void in a two bedroom property, a 
client could be offered the tenancy. However, the Under-occupation rule will mean that they will now 
be less likely to move there. The Probation Service aims to move a client on from Approved Premises 
within three to six months. It was suggested that lower risk clients will struggle to access properties 
provided by Registered Providers and will, therefore, look to the private sector. HMOs are an 
increasingly likely option. However, some clients are not suitable to share accommodation and there 
are risk factors involved. The lack of suitable one bedroom accommodation is a major problem for 
this particular client group. One particular barrier for ex-offenders in finding accommodation is that 12 
months’ good behaviour has to be demonstrated in order to be eligible for a tenancy via Property 
Pool Plus. This cannot be achieved for a recent ex-offender. It was suggested that the system would 
be more flexible if it were “relevant convictions” that were taken into account.  
 
Schools and education 
During the Evidence Days, contributors pointed out the need for individuals to be able to manage 
budgets. The introduction of Universal Credit with monthly (rather than weekly) payments and the 
withdrawal for many claimants of direct payments to landlords will all make personal financial 
management an even more important issue.  
 
The provision of more education regarding financial management and budgeting, particularly for 
young people and especially in socially deprived areas, would be hugely beneficial. It is understood 
that some banks work specifically with schools and in the community to provide financial 
management training courses and managing household bills. It may be possible for this process to be 
expanded. There is also scope for voluntary and community groups, such as Christians Against 
Poverty, to make an important contribution in the wider community.  
 

Recommendation 17 – Education regarding financial management and budgeting in schools 
The Strategic Director for Families and Wellbeing is requested to lead a dialogue with local schools to 
encourage increased provision of education regarding financial management and budgeting. The 
Schools Forum could provide a useful mechanism for this dialogue.  

 
It is also hoped that Credit Unions will have a role to play, both in continuing to provide credit at 
competitive rates and providing other financial services to its members. Awareness-raising regarding 
Credit Unions in schools would be a helpful way of promoting financial management and budgeting 
skills.   
 

Recommendation 18 – Credit Unions in schools 
The Strategic Director for Families and Wellbeing is requested to hold discussions with Wirral Credit 
Union regarding the possibility of Credit Unions being established in schools in order to promote 
education regarding financial management and budgeting. 
 
 
 
This Report was produced by the Under-Occupation Scrutiny Panel (which reports to The 
Economy & Regeneration Overview & Scrutiny Committee) 

Page 42



Page 31 of 39  
The Implications of Benefit Reforms on Under-Occupation – Final Report 

Appendix 1: Scope Document for the Benefit Reforms and Under-occupation Scrutiny Review 
 
Date:   26/10/12      
 
Review Title:  Relationship between Benefit Reforms and Under-occupation 
 
 
Scrutiny Panel Chair: 
Cllr Mark Johnston 
 

 
Contact details:  
    

 
Panel members: 
Cllr Denise Realey  
Cllr Jean Stapleton 
Cllr Mike Sullivan 
Cllr Janette Williamson  
 

 

 
Scrutiny Officer: 
Alan Veitch 
 

 
Contact details: 
0151 691 8564 

 
Departmental Link Officer: 
Lisa Newman 
 

 
Contact details: 
0151 691 8197 

Other Key Officer contacts: 
 

 
 

 
1. Which of our strategic corporate objectives does this topic address? 
The Council’s Corporate Plan 2012/13 includes the following statements: 

• We will respond effectively to the impact of welfare reform on the availability of and 
access to housing, including close partnership working with landlords in the borough. 
(A target in the Corporate Plan is to “Develop an action plan to respond to under-
occupation in both the social and private rented sector by summer 2012”).  

• We will support those who are experiencing or who are at risk of homelessness and 
we will continue to work hard to improve access to advice and information about the 
housing options that local people have. 

In addition, it should be noted that the reforms have the potential to impact on a range of 
Corporate objectives, for example, Child Poverty, the Fostering Service and so on.  

Page 43



Page 32 of 39  
The Implications of Benefit Reforms on Under-Occupation – Final Report 

 
2. What are the main issues? 
The key purpose of this scrutiny review is to investigate the impact of changes to housing 
benefit and the welfare reforms specifically relating to under occupation in both the public 
and private housing sectors.  
 
Key issues for the review will be: 

• Impact of the introduction of the Housing Benefit Cap 
• Impact of changes to the Local Housing Allowance, with special reference to the 

Shared Accommodation Rate for under-35s 
• Allocation process for Discretionary Housing Benefit 
• Impacts of the reforms relating to Under-occupation and how this affects households 

and communities   
• Impact of the reforms on the Social Housing sector (Housing Associations) 

 
Specific attention will be given to the impact of the reforms on issues such as: 

• People who are separated from their partner but share the care of children but are not 
the ‘main carer’ for the child or children. Those previously allocated an extra 
bedroom for this will be affected   

• Foster parents 
• Children with disabilities or those who need an extra bedroom for medical equipment 
• Social Housing Provider’s rental income and ability to invest in Wirral 
• Impact on HMO’s (Houses in Multiple Occupation) 
• Impact on homeless services in Wirral 

 
Note: The following reforms are outside the scope of this review: 

• Universal Credit 
• Localised Council Tax Reduction Scheme  

 

Page 44



Page 33 of 39  
The Implications of Benefit Reforms on Under-Occupation – Final Report 

 
3. The Committee’s overall aim/objective in doing this work is: 
Members have reported considerable public concern regarding the impact of changes to 
housing benefit and welfare reforms specifically relating to under- occupation in both the 
public and private housing sectors.  
This review will investigate the steps which the Council and other partners are already 
planning to take and consider further actions that may be feasible in order to mitigate against 
some impacts of the reforms.  
 
4. The possible outputs/outcomes are: 
4.1  To understand the potential impacts of the reforms   
4.2  Propose options to alleviate the negative impacts of the reforms 
4.3  To understand whether joint work can be done with key partners  
 
5. What specific value can scrutiny add to this topic? 
Further scrutiny will give members the opportunity to assure themselves that the Council is 
taking all possible steps to lessen any negative impact of the reforms. Scrutiny will enable the 
experience of those directly impacted by the reforms to help identify any recommendations 
for changes. These recommendations will be referred to Cabinet.  
 
6. Who will the Committee be trying to influence as part of its work? 
6.1   Appropriate Cabinet members and Directors, Wirral Borough Council. 
6.2   Partners of the Council, for example, Registered Social Landlords, Private Landlords, 

Police.   
 
7. Duration of enquiry? 

• The Scope document is due to be discussed / agreed at the meeting of the Economy & 
Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny Committee to be held on 14th November 2012.  

• A Select Committee session(s) will be held during January 2013. 
• Additional evidence-gathering will take place in late-January and early February 

2013, if necessary. 
• A report will be presented to the meeting of the Economy & Regeneration Overview 

and Scrutiny Committee to be held on 7th March 2013.    
 
8. What category does the review fall into? 
 
Policy Review     X Policy Development 
 
External Partnership  Performance Management        
 
Holding Executive to Account  
 
9. Extra resources needed? Would the investigation benefit from the co-operation of an 
expert witness? 
The review will be conducted by councillors with the support of existing officers. However, 
the panel are looking for advice from people with expertise on this topic, such as Shelter.  
 
 

Page 45



Page 34 of 39  
The Implications of Benefit Reforms on Under-Occupation – Final Report 

 
10. What information do we need? 
10.1 Secondary information (background 
information, existing reports, legislation, 
central government documents, etc). 

• Relevant Government Departmental 
reports 

• Relevant national documents 
• Previous Cabinet / Scrutiny 

Committee reports 
• Briefing paper prepared by Lisa 

Newman (for meeting held 18th 
October 2012)  

• Centre for Public Scrutiny – Policy 
briefing on Welfare Reform, 
September 2012 

• Report based on research undertaken 
by Cambridge University 

• Reports from other Councils into 
similar topics, for example, Bristol 
Council 

 

10.2  Primary/new evidence/information 
 
 
Interviews with key officers 
 
Interviews with affected tenants / residents 
 
Examples of good practice from other 
Councils 
 
Statistics for Wirral: 

• How many people currently get more 
than £26,000 in benefits (and will 
therefore be affected by the benefit 
cap)? 

• How many people aged under 35 are 
affected by the Shared 
Accommodation Rate? 

• What is the current and future budget 
Discretionary Housing Benefit? 

Page 46



Page 35 of 39  
The Implications of Benefit Reforms on Under-Occupation – Final Report 

 
10.3  Who can provide us with further 
relevant evidence? (Cabinet portfolio 
holder, officer, service user, general 
public, expert witness, etc). 
The following will be invited to the Select 
Committee session: 

• Brian Simpson, Wirral Partnership 
Homes 

• Alan Hughes, Wirral Methodist 
Housing Association 

• Steve Newsham, Regenda Housing 
Association 

• Nigel Hughes, YMCA  
• Representatives of the Private 

Landlords Forum (x2) 
• Malcolm Flanagan, Housing Benefits, 

Wirral Borough Council 
• Citizens Advice Bureau (CAB) 
• Welfare Rights, Wirral Borough 

Council   
• Shelter 
• Sheila Khan, Fostering Service, 

Wirral Borough Council 
• A foster carer 
• Tenants representative (aged under 

35) 
• Tenants from the social housing 

sector (x2) 
• Inspector Paul Vickers(or Inspector 

Chris Lucan-Pratt), Merseyside 
Police 

• Homelessness Team, Wirral Borough 
Council  

• HMO Team, (Homes of Multiple 
Occupation), Wirral Borough Council  

10.4  What specific areas do we want them 
to cover when they give evidence? 
 
 
Social Housing Providers / Landlords 

• What is the impact of Under-
occupation on your business plans? 

Housing Benefits 
• What are the criteria for allocating 

Discretionary Housing Benefit and 
how can this be used to help in 
alleviating the impacts of the reforms? 

• What is being done to raise awareness 
among those people affected? 

• Are you able to identify those clients 
who are affected? 

Welfare Rights / CAB / Shelter 
• What is the evidence of increasing 

hardship? 
Fostering 

• How will the reforms affect the 
fostering service? 

• How will the reforms affect the 
Council’s ability to care for 
vulnerable children? 

Tenants / Residents 
• What is the impact of the reforms? 
• How likely are you to move and what 

are your prospects? 
Police 

• Do you have concerns regarding the 
benefit reforms? 

• How will your service be affected? 
Homeless Team 

• How has the reform affected the 
numbers who are presenting as 
homeless and how is that likely to 
change? 

• What is your ability to respond? 
• If a client is evicted, what is the cost 

of temporary accommodation?  
 
 
 
 

Page 47



Page 36 of 39  
The Implications of Benefit Reforms on Under-Occupation – Final Report 

 
 
11. What processes can we use to feed into the review? (site visits / observations, face-to-
face questioning, telephone survey, written questionnaire, etc).  
 
11.1    A Select Committee session(s) will be organised at Wallasey Town Hall. All listed 

witnesses (as in Section 10.3 above) will be invited to attend at a specified time 
throughout the day(s).   

11.2   Desktop analysis / research 
 
 
12. In what ways can we involve the public and at what stages? (consider whole range of 
consultative mechanisms, local committees and local ward mechanisms). 
 
It is estimated that 3100 households in the social housing sector alone will be affected by 
these reforms. Therefore, a general call for evidence is likely to lead to a large number of 
responses. As a result, a more targeted approach is proposed.  
 
12.1   A small number of tenants will give evidence during the Select Committee session. 
12.2   A targeted questionnaire may be possible 
12.3   Advocacy agencies such as Welfare Rights and CAB are invited to represent the views 
of their clients.  
 
 
    
 
 

Page 48



Page 37 of 39  
The Implications of Benefit Reforms on Under-Occupation – Final Report 

Appendix 2: Attendance List for the Evidence Days 
 

Day 1 15th January 2013  
 
Witness Organisation 
Session 1A – Public Sector 
Rob Young (Rob has been leading 
some cross-Merseyside work on 
related issues) 
 
Brian Simpson  
 
John Mycock 
 
Alun Hughes 
 
Steve Newsham  
and  
Karen Murphy 
 
Neil Townsend 
 

Chief Executive, Helena Housing (St Helens)  
 
 
 
Chief Executive, Wirral Partnership Homes 
 
Assistant Director of Housing, Wirral Partnership Homes 
 
Chief Executive, Wirral Methodist Housing Association 
 
Regional Director, Regenda Housing Association 
 
 
 
Divisional Director, Riverside Housing Association 

Tenants from social housing sector  –  
Mr & Mrs Millership 
Ms Grant  
Mr & Mrs Proudlove 
 

Tenants – Social housing sector 

Jean Robinson 
 
Ms Davis and 
Ms Davis 
 

Tenants Representative, Wirral Partnership Homes  
 
Tenants– Social housing sector  

Session 1B – Private Sector 
Helen Evans (Roberts Estates) 
 
Graham MacMaster (MacMaster 
Properties) 
 

Chair, Private Landlord Forum 
 
Representative, Private Landlord Forum 

Nigel Hughes  
 

Chief Executive, YMCA 

Emma Foley  Private Sector Housing Manager, Wirral Borough Council 
 

Sheila Khan plus 
Foster carers: 
Mr & Mrs Nall 
Michelle Laing 

Fostering Service, Wirral Borough Council 
 
 

 

Page 49



Page 38 of 39  
The Implications of Benefit Reforms on Under-Occupation – Final Report 

Day 2  22nd January 2013 
 
Witness Organisation 
Session 2A – Benefits and advocacy 
Malcolm Flanagan 
 
Nicky Dixon 
 

Head of Service, Housing Benefit, Wirral Borough Council 
 
Benefits Manager, Wirral Borough Council 

Brian Buckley  
 
Julie Williams 
 

Welfare Rights, Wirral Borough Council 
 
Manager, One Stop Shops, Wirral Borough Council 

Kieran Littler 
 

Citizens Advice Bureau, Wirral 

Session 2B – Impacts on specific Clients 
Catherine Green 
 
Sheila Jacobs 

 

Manager, Rehousing Services, Wirral Borough Council 
 
Supported Housing Joint Commissioning Manager, Wirral 
Borough Council 
 

Sharon Reddy 
 

Merseyside Probation Service 

Barney Redmond 
 

Wirral Veterans Centre 

 
 
 
In addition, written evidence was submitted by: 

• Jo Cutler, Service Manager, Shelter, Merseyside  
• Inspector Chris Lucan-Pratt, Merseyside Police  
• Ms. Lynn Gardner (Social Housing sector tenant) 

 
 
 

Page 50



Page 39 of 39  
The Implications of Benefit Reforms on Under-Occupation – Final Report 

Appendix 3 References 
 
Reference Documents included the following: 
 
Report of the Acting Director of Housing, Planning and Regeneration, ‘Responding to Under Occupation in Wirral, 
presented to Economy and Regeneration Overview & Scrutiny Committee, Wirral Borough Council, 8th March 2012    
 
Report of the Director of Adult Social Services, ‘Welfare Reform’, presented to Health & Wellbeing Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, Wirral Borough Council, 5th November 2012  
 
Report of the Interim Director of Housing, Planning and Regeneration, ‘Update on transfer of Choice Based Lettings 
Service from Wirral Homes to Property Pool Plus’, presented to Economy and Regeneration Overview & Scrutiny 
Committee, Wirral Borough Council, 16th January 2013    
 
Report of the Interim Director of Finance, ‘Welfare Reform Update’, presented to Council Excellence Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee, Wirral Borough Council, 30th January 2013  
 
Various, Department for Work and Pensions website (including ‘Housing Benefit size criteria in the social rented sector’)  
 
‘Housing Benefit size criteria restrictions for working age claimants in the social rented sector from 1 April 2013’, 
Housing Benefit and Council Tax Benefit Circular – HB/CTB A4/2012, Department for Work and Pensions, July 2012    
 
‘Managing the impact of Housing Benefit reform’, National Audit Office, 26th October 2012 
  
‘Discretionary Housing Payments’, Wirral Borough Council website 
 
‘Application for Award of Discretionary Housing payment for people who get Housing Benefit and / or Council Tax 
Benefit’, Wirral Borough Council website 
 
Various, National Housing Federation website 
 
Examples of leaflets distributed by Registered Providers to tenants  
 
Briefing Paper provided by the House of Commons Library, ‘Under-occupation of social housing: Housing Benefit 
entitlement’, December 2012 
 
Briefing Paper provided by Housing Department, Wirral Borough Council, ‘Impact of Welfare Reform on under-
occupancy’, October 2012   
 
Briefing Paper provided by Chartered Institute of Housing, ‘How to… support tenants to find a lodger’, January 2013 
 
Briefing Paper provided by Shelter, ‘Welfare Reform impacts – Wirral’, January 2013  
 
‘An Analysis of Wirral Under-occupation’, Wirral Partnership Homes, January 2013 
 
‘Welfare Reform – Support Information for Wirral Scrutiny Panel Members, The Regenda Group, January 2013 
 
Policy Briefing Paper 19, ‘Welfare Reform’, Centre for Public Scrutiny, September 2012  
 
Scrutiny Inquiry Report, ‘Welfare Reform’, Leeds City Council, February 2013 
 
Quality of Life Scrutiny Commission, ‘Report from the Inquiry Days on Housing and Welfare Reforms’, Bristol City 
Council, January 2012 
 
Housing & Social Care Scrutiny Panel, ‘ Review to consider the impact on the rented housing market of Welfare Reform 
proposals’, Portsmouth City Council, June 2012 
 
‘Housing benefit: Foster carers and armed services exempted from changes’, BBC website, 12th March 2013 
 
‘Tenants’ rent arrears soar in pilot benefit scheme’, BBC website, 12th March 2013 

Page 51



Page 52

This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

                                                           
 

Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit (from 
May 2012) 
 
 

Section 1: Your details 
 
EIA lead Officer: Michael Callon 
 
Email address: michaelcallon@wirral.gov.uk 
 
Head of Section: Michele Duerden 
 
Chief Officer: Kevin Adderley, Strategic Director 
 
Department: Regeneration & Environment 
 
Date: 11/04/2013 
 

 
 

 
Section 2: What Council proposal is being assessed?  
 
Implementation of the Under Occupation Rule.  This is a Phase 1 EIA 
undertaken at the point of the Scrutiny Review being reported to 
Economy & Regeneration Scrutiny Committee.  A Phase 2 EIA will need to 
be completed pending the decision of Cabinet in respect of the 
recommendations of the Scrutiny Review.  It is at this stage that 
timescales and resource implications will be included. 
 
 
 
 

 
Section 2b: Will this EIA be submitted to a Cabinet or Overview & Scrutiny 

Committee?  
 
Yes / No  If ‘yes’ please state which meeting and what date  
 
 Economy and Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny Committee 22nd 

April 2013. 
 

Page 53



 

 Please add hyperlink to where your EIA is/will be published on the 
Council’s website (see your Departmental Equality Group Chair for 
appropriate hyperlink) 

 
   …………………………………………………………… 
 
 
 
 
 

Section 3: Does the proposal have the potential to affect…… (please tick 
relevant boxes) 

 
ü Services 
 
ü The workforce 
 
ü Communities 
 
ü Other (please state eg: Partners, Private Sector, Voluntary & Community Sector) 
 
 
 
If you have ticked one or more of above, please go to section 4. 
 
¨ None (please stop here and email this form to your Chief Officer who needs to 
 email it to equalitywatch@wirral.gov.uk for publishing) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Section 4: Does the proposal have the potential to maintain or enhance the 
            way the Council …….. (please tick relevant boxes)                               

                        
 
ü Eliminates unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation 
 
ü Advances equality of opportunity 
 
ü Fosters good relations between groups of people 
 
If you have ticked one or more of above, please go to section 5. 
 
¨ No (please stop here and email this form to your Chief Officer who needs to 
 email it to equalitywatch@wirral.gov.uk for publishing) 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 54



 

 
 

 
Section 5: Could the proposal have a positive or negative impact on any of the protected groups (race, gender, 

disability, gender reassignment, age, pregnancy and maternity, religion and belief, sexual orientation, 
marriage and civil partnership)? 

 
 You may also want to consider socio-economic status of individuals. 
 

                     Please list in the table below and include actions required to mitigate any potential negative impact. 
 

 

 
Which 

group(s) of 
people could 
be affected 

 
Potential positive or negative impact 

 
 
 

 
Action required to 

mitigate any potential 
negative impact 

 
 

 
Lead person 

 
Timescale 

 
Resource 

implications 

Tenants under 
occupying in 
Social Housing 
and/or in 
receipt of 
Housing 
Benefit 
 
 

The under occupation rule will have a 
negative impact resulting in either a reduction 
in housing benefit or the upheaval of having to 
change accommodation with its associated 
financial and emotional costs.  As such, there 
is particular concern for the most vulnerable 
tenants and the recommendations from the 
review reflect this and are translated into the 
proposed actions.  The potential impact on 
particular protected groups i.e. those on low 
incomes or with a disability is referred to in the 
full scrutiny report to be considered by the 
Economy and Regeneration Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee on 22nd April 2013. 
http://democracy.wirral.gov.uk/ieListDocument
s.aspx?CId=530&MId=3909&Ver=4 
 

The allocation of 
Discretionary Housing 
Payment should be based 
on well-defined and 
quantifiable criteria 
focussing on the most 
vulnerable groups and 
easily understood by 
applicants. 
 
Disabled tenants living in 
properties with major 
adaptations should be 
treated as a high priority 
within the Discretionary 
Housing Payment criteria. 
 
 

Strategic 
Director of 
Transformation 
& Resources 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Strategic 
Director of 
Transformation 
& Resources 
 
 
 
 

  

P
age 55



 

Changes to the under 
occupation rules specifically 
affecting foster carers 
should be monitored. 
Consideration should be 
given to introducing an 
additional monthly fixed fee 
to foster carers, paid 
regardless of whether a 
child is in place to offset the 
cost of the under 
occupation rule for those 
foster carers affected. 
 

Strategic 
Director of 
Families and 
Wellbeing. 
 

Social Housing 
Providers 
 

The under occupation rule will have a 
negative impact increasing the risk of some 
tenants falling into arrears with rental 
payments and requiring an increase in 
resources towards debt management and 
recovery. 
 

Consideration be given to 
ways in which mutual 
exchanges in the social 
housing sector can be 
encouraged. 
 
Discussions are undertaken 
with Registered Providers to 
determine whether a more 
joined-up approach could 
be employed regarding the 
marketing & promotion of 
downsizing services which 
are already available to 
tenants. 
 
Consideration be given to 
the enhancement of the 
Property Pool Plus (PPP) 
website to ensure that a 
benefits calculator and 

Strategic 
Director for 
Regeneration & 
Environment 
 
 
Strategic 
Director for 
Regeneration & 
Environment 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Strategic 
Director for 
Regeneration & 
Environment 
 

  P
age 56



 

other relevant information is 
available at the time when 
tenants are applying for 
properties. 
 
Armed forces veterans 
should be allocated as band 
B on the PPP website. 
 
 
The Council should work in 
partnership with Registered 
Providers and Private 
Landlords to promote the 
importance of tenants 
paying rent.  
 
The principles of social 
overdraft schemes are 
investigated and the 
findings presented to 
Registered Providers. 

 
 
 
 
 
Strategic 
Director for 
Regeneration & 
Environment 
 
Head of 
Neighbourhoods 
and engagement 
 
 
 
 
Strategic 
Director for 
Regeneration & 
Environment 
 

The Council 
 
 

The under occupation rule will have an impact 
on the Council’s services and the level of 
resources required to deliver those services in 
a number of areas.  A range of actions are 
recommended to address areas where  
Council services are likely to experience more 
demand and where preventative activity may 
reduce demand further downstream. 
  

All front line staff have 
access to an on-line toolkit 
of information to enable 
them to sign post clients to 
the most appropriate advice 
point for support. 
 
Training is offered to private 
landlords to explain the 
changes and how tenants 
will be affected.  This 
should include Houses in 
Multiple Occupation and 

Strategic 
Director of 
Transformation 
& Resources 
 
 
 
Strategic 
Director for 
Regeneration & 
Environment 
 
 

  

P
age 57



 

regulations for shared 
accommodation. 
 
Adequate monitoring and 
enforcement action is taken 
to prevent establishment of 
illegal Houses in Multiple 
Occupation. 
 
In order to further prepare 
for Digital by Default and 
support the aims of the GO 
ON Wirral campaign, it is 
proposed a target is set for 
each library to recruit a 
minimum of five digital 
champions to provide 
support for clients.  
 
The Council leads a 
dialogue with local schools 
to encourage increased 
provision of education 
regarding financial 
management and 
budgeting. The Schools 
Forum could provide a 
useful mechanism for this 
dialogue.  
 
Discussions are held with 
Wirral Credit Union 
regarding the possibility of 
Credit Unions being 
established in schools in 

 
 
 
Strategic 
Director for 
Regeneration & 
Environment 
 
 
Strategic 
Director of 
Transformation 
& Resources 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Strategic 
Director of 
Families and 
Wellbeing. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Strategic 
Director of 
Families and 
Wellbeing. 
 

P
age 58



 

order to promote education 
regarding financial 
management and 
budgeting. 
 
The Housing Needs 
Assessment process takes 
account of the shortage of 
one-bedroom properties.  
 
The Council should act as a 
community leader to 
encourage the transfer of 
hard-to-let or empty 
properties to organisations 
such as the YMCA and the 
Veterans Centre with 
supporting finance from the 
Supporting People Project. 
Consideration should also 
be given to creative ideas 
such as self-repair projects.  
 
An evaluation regarding the 
impact of the under 
occupation rule be 
conducted by the 
appropriate Overview & 
Scrutiny Committee during 
spring 2014. 

 
 
 
 
 
Strategic 
Director for 
Regeneration & 
Environment 
 
Strategic 
Director for 
Regeneration & 
Environment 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Head of 
Policy & 
Performance / 
Director of Public 
Health. 
 

 

P
age 59



 

 

 
Section 5a: Where and how will the above actions be monitored? 
 
These actions are aligned to the outcome of the Under Occupation Rule 
Scrutiny Review.  Subject to Cabinet approval of the recommendations of the 
Economy and Regeneration Scrutiny Committee, responsibility for monitoring 
the implementation of these actions will rest with the scrutiny committee. 
 
 
 

 
Section 5b: If you think there is no negative impact, what is your 

reasoning behind this? 
 
N/A 
 
 
 
 

 
Section 6:  What research / data / information have you used in support 
of this process? 
 
A detail scrutiny review has been undertaken which has included both primary 
and secondary research sources. 
 

 

 
Section 7: Are you intending to carry out any consultation with regard 

to this Council proposal? 
 
Yes / No – (please delete as appropriate) 
 
If ‘yes’ please continue to section 8.  
 
If ‘no’ please state your reason(s) why:  
 
 
 
(please stop here and email this form to your Chief Officer who needs to email it to 
equalitywatch@wirral.gov.uk for publishing) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 60



 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Section 8: How will consultation take place and by when?  
 
Consultation has been undertaken as part of the Scrutiny Review process.  Relevant 
officers and departments have been consulted on the contents of the final scrutiny 
report.            
 
 
 
 
Before you complete your consultation, please email your preliminary EIA to 
equalitywatch@wirral.gov.uk via your Chief Officer in order for the Council to ensure 
it is meeting it’s legal requirements. The EIA will be published with a note saying we 
are awaiting outcomes from a consultation exercise. 
 
 
Once you have completed your consultation, please review your actions in section 5.  
Then   email this form to your Chief Officer who needs to email it to 
equalitywatch@wirral.gov.uk for re-publishing. 
  
 
 
Section 9:  Have you remembered to: 
 
a) Add appropriate departmental hyperlink to where your EIA is/will be                                            

published (section 2b) 
b) Include any potential positive impacts as well as negative impacts? 
(section 5) 
c) Send this EIA to equalitywatch@wirral.gov.uk via your Chief Officer? 
d) Review section 5 once consultation has taken place and sent your 

completed EIA to equalitywatch@wirral.gov.uk via your Chief Officer for 
re-publishing? 

 
 

Page 61



Page 62

This page is intentionally left blank



WIRRAL COUNCIL 

ECONOMY AND REGENERATION OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

22 APRIL 2013 

SUBJECT: SUPPORTING PEOPLE: PROCESS TO 
ACHIEVE £2 MILLION BUDGET SAVINGS 

WARD/S AFFECTED: ALL 
REPORT OF: STRATEGIC DIRECTOR: 

REGENERATION AND ENVIRONMENT 
RESPONSIBLE PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER:  

CLLR. GEORGE DAVIES –  
Housing and Community Safety 

KEY DECISION?  NO 
  

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

1.1 This report seeks to inform Scrutiny Committee of the decision of the Strategic Director: 
Regeneration and Environment to negotiate and agree future funding arrangements for 
Supporting People contracted services.  

 
1.2 It further provides an update on the Supporting People programme. It focuses on the 

recent key changes to the programme in terms of overall funding, funding for the main 
client groups and the effect this has had on the design and delivery of housing support 
services. 

 
1.3 In order to assist the Council to meet its financial requirements it was determined that 

the Supporting People budget for 2014/15 will be reduced by £2m per annum. This 
along with changes to the Handy Person Service and decommissioning of the BME 
Support Service in 2013/14 means an overall reduction of 24% to the annual budget. It 
will be a challenge to deliver the scale and quality of provision within the current 
budgetary and economic environment. However, work detailed in this report will help to 
ensure clients continue to receive support, which is tailored to their specific needs, 
whilst also achieving the required budget saving by 2014.  

 
2.0 BACKGROUND AND KEY ISSUES 

2.1 The Wirral Supporting People programme has had a positive impact across the 
Borough since 2003. It currently supports over 5,000 people to live independently and 
securely in suitable accommodation. This has not only had a positive impact on the 
individuals, but has also delivered significant added value across the public sector for 
example. housing, health, police, probation and employment and skills. The programme 
has also had considerable success in raising the quality of housing support provided 
and in implementing effective multi-agency approaches to resolving complex client 
needs. 

 
2.2 Supporting People is a programme of commissioned housing related support services. 

Up to April 2010 it was a national programme with services commissioned through a 
ring fenced budget but since April 2010 decisions and funding for Supporting People  
have been devolved to the local authority.  

 
2.3 The programme delivers a range of housing support services for vulnerable individuals 

and families across the Borough. It has been designed to help clients gain the skills and 
confidence to live independently in secure and safe accommodation. The services are 

Agenda Item 7

Page 63



tailored to the specific needs of a number of client groups, including older people, 
people with learning disabilities, people with mental health problems, homeless people 
and homeless families, young people including care leavers and women at risk of 
domestic violence. 

 
2.4   In partnership with Department for Adult Social Services and Housing Benefit Section 

within Department of Finance reviews of the funding for clients with Learning Disabilities 
and Services for Older People have been conducted. This programme of joint reviews 
with Adult Social Services is well advanced and improving value for money and service 
delivery in Learning Disabilities.  This report sets out savings that have already been 
identified in the Supporting People contribution to a range of projects.  

 
2.5    Some of the efficiencies identified in this report will be realised in the 2013/14 financial 

year, although not required until 2014/15 and beyond. The efficiencies will be achieved 
as a result of negotiation of contracts with service providers and remodelling of service 
activities. The ability to negotiate efficiencies has negated the requirement to conduct a 
tendering process which would be costly in terms of time and resources and may not 
realise the same level of efficiency.  The process of negotiated contracts is compatible 
with the Procurement Methodology detailed in the Supported & Special Needs Housing 
Strategy and continues to be supported by the council’s legal services and Director of 
Finance under Contract Procedure Rules 21.1.1(ii) and (v). 

  
2.6    Services for People with Learning Disabilities 
 
2.6.1  Funding for clients with Learning Disabilities was approximately £2.2m in 2012/13 which 

is approximately 23% of the total Supporting People budget. Contracts for clients with 
Learning Disabilities have been subject of previous reports to Cabinet on 15 March 
2012 and 19 July 2012 (Virement to DASS).  

 
2.6.2  The process of re-assessment of clients care and support needs has concluded; it has 

informed negotiations to identify appropriate funding streams for each individual, 
including additional funding from Health. The process should deliver a reduction in 
Supporting People subsidy of approximately £500,000 per annum. Once contract 
negotiations have been concluded a further report will be submitted identifying the 
actual level of saving. 

 
2.6.3  Contract extensions have been issued to 6 provider organisations with an expiry date of 

30 March 2014 (but with an option to extend for a further 12 months). They have been 
approved by Strategic Director: Regeneration and Environment in line with his 
delegated decision-making authority.  

 
2.6.4  In addition 3 Supporting People Contracts have been issued to service providers 

awarded contracts by Adult Social Services in January 2011 for outsourced supported 
living schemes.  These schemes were previously subject of a Service Level Agreement 
between Supporting People and Adult Social Services (they were subject of Report to 
Cabinet on 12 March 2012).  The providers tendered for the services and were selected 
through a process which included involvement and selection by the service users within 
the schemes.  The Strategic Director: Regeneration and Environment agreed to award a 
Supporting People Contract for the assessed housing related support element of the 
services to the 3 providers (previously funded by Supporting People through the 
virement to Adult Social Services.) This decision ensures that there is continuity of 
service for the clients, delivered by their preferred provider and further that there will be 

Page 64



no change or disruption thereby avoiding any undue stress for these very vulnerable 
people. 

 
2.6.5 Negotiation is still ongoing with 3 providers. The Strategic Director: Regeneration and 

Environment has agreed to extend the contracts to 30th June 2013, on existing terms 
and conditions to allow for the conclusion of the process.  

 
2.6.6  There may be additional costs to Adult Social Services of an estimated £100,000 

following the Supporting People funding changes; however, as stated above, not all the 
negotiations for Learning Disability Services have been concluded.  Any variation to 
Adult Social Services funding will be attributable to changed client number; clients re-
assessed need, as well as the withdrawal of Supporting People funding previously used 
for non eligible Supporting People functions. 

 
2.6.7  This position is being kept under review and an update will be provided as required. 

  
2.7    Services for Older People 

 
2.7.1  Funding for Older Person’s services was approximately £2m per annum from the 

Supporting People Budget which is 20.5% of the total budget in 2012/13. This funding is 
largely for the delivery of support services within sheltered housing schemes and also 
includes Abbeyfield Societies and Community Alarm services. 

.  
2.7.2  In order to deliver efficiencies for the Council whilst protecting frontline services Officers 

have explored alternative finance options.  Providers of sheltered accommodation have 
been asked to review the proportion of their service that relates to Intensive Housing 
Management and apportion the costs accordingly to what is an eligible Housing Benefit  
service charge. This process is based on the Leeds City Council Model which, following 
a thorough and rigorous time and motion study identified that a sheltered wardens time 
could be apportioned 78% Intensive Housing Management to 22% Support.   

 
2.7.3  The process undertaken by Wirral Supporting People replicates the exercise carried out 

by Leeds City Council and has been implemented with full approval and involvement 
from officers in Finance Department’s Housing Benefit section.   It should result in 
reduced Supporting People subsidies representing an approximate saving of £800,000 
per annum.  

 
2.7.4  This process has had a neutral effect to the overall budget of Housing Benefit (Housing 

Benefit costs are paid directly by central government and attract full subsidy as the 
services are delivered by Registered Providers) but it will generate a saving to the 
Council from the Supporting People Budget. More importantly, the number of older 
people in Wirral receiving the service will remained unchanged (approximately 4000 
clients) and there will be minimal or no impact on the level of charge levied against the 
individual service recipients, many of whom are on low incomes or in receipt of welfare 
benefits. 

 
2.7.5 The Strategic Director: Regeneration and Environment, in line with his delegated 

decision-making authority, authorised the award of contract extensions to 7 providers of 
services for older people for a period of 12 months (with an option to extend for a further 
12 months) expiring on 30 March 2014.   

 

Page 65



2.7.6  Due to the time required to: determine the correct level of revised charges; in some 
instances to report proposals to Board Members; consult with Housing Benefit to agree 
increased Housing Management; consult with tenants to inform them of the changes to 
their tenancy charges, 6 of the provider organisations have not been able to implement 
changes from 1st April 2013.  For these providers the Strategic Director: Regeneration 
and Environment has agreed to award a 3 month contract extension to 30 June 2013 to 
allow additional time to conclude the process.  On receipt of details of reduced 
Supporting People charges the organisations will be issued with a further contract 
extension which will bring them in line with the other providers of services to older 
people. Once contract negotiations have been concluded a further report will be 
submitted identifying the actual level of savings achieved.    

 
 2.8  Services for Socially Excluded clients 

 
2.8.1 The clients supported in this group include: People with Mental Health Problems; Single 

Homeless people with Support Needs; People at risk of Domestic Violence; Young 
People with Support Needs; Teenage Parents; People with Drug or Alcohol Problems; 
Offenders (inc. Mentally Disordered Offenders); Homeless Families. The service users 
are very vulnerable but often are not known to statutory services due to the transient 
nature, or may not yet meet the criteria for statutory care and are therefore reliant on 
assistance from Supporting People services, to ensure that they do not deteriorate 
requiring more costly interventions from Health, Social Care or the Criminal Justice 
System. 

 
2.8.2  Supporting People expenditure for the client group was approximately £5.2m which is   

53% of the total Supporting People budget in 2012/13.  
 
2.8.3 The majority of contracts for Socially Excluded services are due to expire between July 

and October 2013. Contract negotiations with the service providers will commence 
shortly with a view to informing future contract arrangements and achieving further 
efficiencies effective from the date contracts are renewed. The result of these 
negotiations will be reported to cabinet in due course.   

 
2.8.7  As part of the negotiation process, and in consultation with relevant stakeholders and 

providers, it is envisaged that efficiencies will be achieved through remodelling of 
services with as little impact on frontline service delivery as possible. However it may be 
necessary to decommission some services in order to better meet changing strategic 
priorities and to realise necessary efficiencies, estimated to be approximately £700,000 
per annum.   

 
2.9    Future Plans 
2.9.1  Future management of the Supporting People Programme will include further 

remodelling of services in order to maintain or improve quality, respond to increasing 
demand and to deliver within the available budget. Welfare Reform changes, including 
the introduction of Universal Credit via direct payments and changes to Housing Benefit 
are likely to increase the future demand for Supporting People services delivered to 
people experiencing social exclusion. 

 
2.9.2  Officers across the Council will continue to work in partnership to reconfigure 

strategically relevant services and funding regimes in order to deliver effective, quality 
and value for money services.  

 

Page 66



2.9.3  It will remain a significant challenge to deliver the scale and quality of provision within 
the current budgetary environment, and in light of anticipated increased demand.  
However, the activity already undertaken and planned will ensure that clients continue 
to receive services tailored to meet their specific needs over the coming years. In the 
process improving housing outcomes for the Boroughs most vulnerable people and 
delivering ongoing savings.  A series of reports will be compiled over the next 12 
months in order to keep Members appraised of developments.  

 
3.0 RELEVANT RISKS  

3.1 In the event that the process is not endorsed and the contracts agreed there will be 
significant loss of service provision for some of Wirral’s most vulnerable residents, with 
a potential impact on the wider community.  

 
3.2 In the event that contract arrangements cannot be agreed there will be further financial 

pressure being placed on other departmental budgets including Housing, Adult Social 
Care, Children and Young Peoples.  

 
3.3  The required £2 million budget reduction will not be attained by April 2014.   

4.0 OTHER OPTIONS CONSIDERED  

4.1 All appropriate options have been implemented for each of the relevant client groups. 
 
5.0 CONSULTATION  

5.1 Consultation with partners, stakeholders, providers and service user is ongoing as part 
of the negotiation process where necessary.  

 
6.0 IMPLICATIONS FOR VOLUNTARY, COMMUNITY AND FAITH GROUPS 

6.1 Some of the providers awarded a contract for supported living services are Wirral based 
voluntary organisations.  These organisations are reliant on appropriate funding for their 
services in order to remain financially viable.  These issues will be considered as part of 
the negotiations. 

 
7.0 RESOURCE IMPLICATIONS: FINANCIAL; IT; STAFFING; AND ASSETS  

7.1 The value of the contract extensions will be met within existing resources. 
 
7.2 In summary,  the three areas generate the £2m saving, as follows (£k): 

 
• Leaning Disabilities – re-assessment process  500 
• Older People – re-apportionment of time   800 
• Socially Excluded – efficiencies from remodelling 700 

 
Much of this has been achieved by the programme’s robust contract management 
process continually identifying how services can be reconfigured to reduce costs and 
better meet client needs and through contract negotiation with provider organisations.  

 
8.0 LEGAL IMPLICATIONS  

8.1 Contract Procedure Rules 21.1.1(ii) and (v) enables contracts to be negotiated without 
competitive tender whether by an extension of an existing contract or by the negotiation 

Page 67



with an existing contractor if there has been an assessment in consultation with the 
Director of Finance of the options available and the negotiation of the contract 
represents value for money to the Council. 

 
8.2 All key decisions on the programme have been taken in strict accordance with the 

Council’s procurement policies and processes. They have been ratified and agreed by 
the Strategic Director: Regeneration and Environment in line with his delegated 
decision-making authority.   

 
8.3  Legal and Member Services have determined that Supporting People services are 

provided as Part B as they maintain clients’ health and well being by assisting them to 
remain independent within the community. Therefore there is no legal requirement to 
undertake a formal competitive tender for the commissioning of these services. 

 
8.4   The services have been reviewed and demonstrate that they comply with UK 

Procurement policy for Local Authorities: which is to seek and demonstrate value for 
money in all public procurement.  

 
9.0 EQUALITIES IMPLICATIONS 

9.1  There is no direct impact on equality strands as a result of the proposed actions set out 
within this report; for clients with Learning Disabilities they will receive the level of 
service identified as part of their individual assessments of need; Sheltered Housing 
provision is unchanged. 

 
9.2 The needs of vulnerable and marginalised groups have been considered as they are 

central to Supporting People Services. It is a key objective of the services provided 
under Supporting People contract to ensure that vulnerable people have equal access 
to opportunities and to promote social inclusion and improved health and wellbeing 
outcomes. In the event that there may be a reduction in services for the remaining 
negotiations, an Equality Impact Assessment will carried out. 

 
10.0 CARBON REDUCTION IMPLICATIONS  

10.1 There are no Carbon reduction implications arising from this report. 
 

11.0 PLANNING AND COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS 

11.1 There are no Planning implications arising from this report. 
 
11.2  The extension of these contracts supports policies and programmes that will have a 

positive effect on the safety of communities. 
 
12.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 

12.1 That Members support the process set out within this report to achieve the £2 million 
saving against the Supporting People budget.    

 
13.0 REASON/S FOR RECOMMENDATION/S 

13.1 By endorsing this recommendation the Council will ensure continuation of supported 
housing services for some of the most vulnerable residents of Wirral. 

 
13.2  In endorsing the processes outlined the Council will achieve required budget savings. 

Page 68



 
 
REPORT AUTHOR: Sheila Jacobs  
  Supported Housing Manager 
  telephone:  0151 691 8345 
  email:   sheilajacobs@wirral.gov.uk 
 
 
APPENDICES: None 

 

REFERENCE MATERIAL 

None. 
 
SUBJECT HISTORY (last 3 years) 

Council Meeting  Date 

Budget Options: Regeneration and Environment 18th February 2013 
Budget 2013/16 - Initial Proposals 20th December 2012 
Supporting People Contracts for Providers of 
Services to People at Risk of or Experiencing Social 
Exclusion  

19th July 2012 

Virement from Regeneration, Housing and Planning 
Budget to Adult Social Services 

15th March 2012 

Supporting People Contracts  13th October 2011 
Supporting People Contracts Report  14th April 2011 

Wirral’s Supported and Special Needs Housing 
Negotiated Contracts 

4th February 2010 

Wirral’s Supported and Special Needs Housing 
Negotiated Contracts - FLOATING SUPPORT 

4th February 2010 

 

 

Page 69



Page 70

This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                           
 

Equality Impact Assessment Toolkit (from 
May 2012) 
  
 

Section 1: Your details 
 
EIA lead Officer: Sheila Jacobs  
 
Email address: sheilajacobs@wirral.gov.uk 
 
Head of Section: Ian Platt  
 
Chief Officer: Kevin Adderley 
 
Department: Regeneration, Housing & Planning  
 
Date: 8th April 2013 
 

 
 

 
Section 2: What Council proposal is being assessed?  
 
Supporting People: Process to achieve £2 Million Budget Savings 
 
In order to assist the Council to meet its financial requirements it was determined that the 
Supporting People budget for 2014/15 will be reduced by £2m per annum.  
 
The report being presented to the Economy and Regeneration OSC informs members of the 
decision of the Strategic Director (Economy and Regeneration) to negotiate and agree future 
funding arrangements for housing-related support services, under contract through the 
Supporting People Programme. 
 
 
   
 
 

 
Section 2b: Will this EIA be submitted to a Cabinet or Overview & Scrutiny 

Committee?  
 
 
  If ‘yes’ please state which meeting and what date  
 
   Yes - Economy and Regeneration OSC – 22nd April 2013 

Page 71



 

 
 
 Please add hyperlink to where your EIA is/will be published on the 

Council’s website (see your Departmental Equality Group Chair for 
appropriate hyperlink) 

 
   …………………………………………………………… 
 
 
 
 
 

Section 3: Does the proposal have the potential to affect…… (please tick relevant 
boxes) 

 
þ Services 
 
p The workforce 
 
p Communities 
 
¨ Other (please state eg: Partners, Private Sector, Voluntary & Community Sector) 
 
If you have ticked one or more of above, please go to section 4. 
 
¨ None (please stop here and email this form to your Chief Officer who needs to  email 
it to equalitywatch@wirral.gov.uk for publishing) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Section 4: Does the proposal have the potential to maintain or enhance the 
            way the Council …….. (please tick relevant boxes)                               

                        
 
¨ Eliminates unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation 
 
p Advances equality of opportunity 
 
p Fosters good relations between groups of people 
 
If you have ticked one or more of above, please go to section 5. 
 
þ No (please stop here and email this form to your Chief Officer who needs to  email 
it to equalitywatch@wirral.gov.uk for publishing) 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 72



 

 
 

 
Section 5: Could the proposal have a positive or negative impact on any of the protected groups (race, gender, 

disability, gender reassignment, age, pregnancy and maternity, religion and belief, sexual orientation, 
marriage and civil partnership)? 

 
 You may also want to consider socio-economic status of individuals. 
 

                     Please list in the table below and include actions required to mitigate any potential negative impact. 
 

 

 
Which group(s) 

of people 
could be 
affected 

 
Potential positive or negative impact 

 
 
 

 
Action required to 

mitigate any potential 
negative impact 

 
 

 
Lead person 

 
Timescale 

 
Resource 

implications 

 
Disability 
 
 

  
 
 

    

 
Age 
 
 

 
 

    

 
Socio-economic 
 
 

 
 

    

Marriage and 
civil partnership 

 
 

    

Sexual 
orientation 

 
 

    

Religion and 
belief 

 
 

    

P
age 73



 

Pregnancy and 
maternity 

 
 

    

Gender 
reassignment 

 
 

    

Gender  
 
 

    

Race  
 

    

 

P
age 74



 

 

 
Section 5a: Where and how will the above actions be monitored? 
 
 
 
 

 
Section 5b: If you think there is no negative impact, what is your reasoning 

behind this? 
 
  
 
 

 
Section 6:  What research / data / information have you used in support of this  
                         process? 
 
   
 

 

 
Section 7: Are you intending to carry out any consultation with regard to this 

Council proposal? 
   
  
 
 
If ‘yes’ please continue to section 8.  
 
If ‘no’ please state your reason(s) why:  
 
 
 
(please stop here and email this form to your Chief Officer who needs to email it to 
equalitywatch@wirral.gov.uk for publishing) 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Section 8: How will consultation take place and by when?  
 
Before you complete your consultation, please email your preliminary EIA to 
equalitywatch@wirral.gov.uk via your Chief Officer in order for the Council to ensure it is 
meeting it’s legal requirements. The EIA will be published with a note saying we are awaiting 
outcomes from a consultation exercise. 
 
 

Page 75



 

Once you have completed your consultation, please review your actions in section 5.  Then   
email this form to your Chief Officer who needs to email it to equalitywatch@wirral.gov.uk for 
re-publishing. 
  
 
 
Section 9:  Have you remembered to: 
 
a) Add appropriate departmental hyperlink to where your EIA is/will be                                            

published (section 2b) 
b) Include any potential positive impacts as well as negative impacts? (section 5) 
c) Send this EIA to equalitywatch@wirral.gov.uk via your Chief Officer? 
d) Review section 5 once consultation has taken place and sent your completed 

EIA to equalitywatch@wirral.gov.uk via your Chief Officer for re-publishing? 
 
 

Page 76



UPDATE ON WORK PROGRAMME : ECONOMY & REGENERATION  
OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – 22nd APRIL 2013  

 
 

Reports to assist in monitoring the Committee’s work programme 
 
It was agreed by the Scrutiny Chairs Group in September 2008 to use the following 
reports to monitor the work programme for each Scrutiny Committee. The last item on 
each Scrutiny Committee agenda should be ‘Review of the Committee Work Programme’.  
 
 
Report 1 - Monitoring Report for Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 
This report will list all items that have been selected by the Committee for inclusion on the 
work programme for the current year. 
 
It will also include items, such as previous Panel Reviews, where recommendations have 
been made to Cabinet. It is important that the implementation of these recommendations 
is monitored. Otherwise there is no measure of the success of scrutiny. 
 
For each item on the work programme, the report will give a description, an indication of 
how the item will be dealt with, a relative timescale for the work and brief comments on 
progress.  
 
 
Report 2 - Suggestions for Additions to Work Programme  
 
The Work Programme for the Committee should be reviewed at each meeting. This will 
enable members to ask for new Items to be added to the programme. This report will list 
any newly suggested items. Committee will then have the opportunity to agree (or not) for 
them to be added to the programme.  
   
 
Report 3 - Proposed Outline Meeting Schedule for the Municipal Year 
 
The report will, for each scheduled Committee meeting, list those items which are likely to 
be on the meeting agenda. This will give the opportunity for Committee members to take a 
greater lead in organising their work programme. 
 
 
Report 4 - Progress Report on In-Depth Panel Reviews 
 
This report will give a very brief update on progress / timescales for in-depth panel reviews 
which are in the ‘ownership’ of the Committee. 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 11

Page 77



 

REPORT 1 
MONITORING REPORT FOR SCRUTINY COMMITTEE WORK PROGRAMME  

ECONOMY & REGENERATION : 22nd APRIL 2013 
Date of 
New 
item  

Topic Description  How the topic will 
be dealt with 

Estimated 
Complete 
Date  

Comments on Progress Complete? 

      
06/06/11 
 

Green Growth – Motion agreed at Council in 
April requesting this Scrutiny Committee to 
“investigate and draw up a report for Cabinet 
on the best ways to create and support a 
‘cluster’ of companies to lead the way in 
driving a Green economy on Wirral and 
across the country”.  
 

In-depth Scrutiny 
Review by Working 
Group of Members 
 

December  
2011 

This item was proposed by 
members for inclusion on the work 
programme at the committee 
meeting on 06/06/11. 
Scope document for the Review 
agreed by Committee on 05/09/11. 
The final report for the review was 
presented to Committee on 
08/03/12 and was referred to the 
Cabinet meeting held on 12th April 
2012. Cabinet also received a 
departmental report providing a 
response to the recommendations 
of the scrutiny review.  
An officer / member working group, 
the Green Economy Working 
Group, has been set up to lead the 
implementation of the 
recommendations.  
An update report regarding 
progress of the Working Group and 
the impact of the review’s 
recommendations will be provided 
to Committee in March 2013.   
Due to the impact of budget 
reductions on the implementation of 
the scrutiny review’s 
recommendations, Committee 
agreed, on 14/11/12, that the 
Working Group will no longer meet 
as planned.   

 

P
age 78



 

 
Date of 
New 
item  

Topic Description  How the topic will 
be dealt with 

Estimated 
Complete 
Date  

Comments on Progress Complete? 

      
06/06/11 
 
 

The implementation of affordable housing 
policies  
  

Report to Committee   During the discussion on the ‘End 
of Year Performance Report’ on 
06/06/11, members requested a 
report on this item. Report on 
Affordable Housing presented to 
Committee on 05/09/11. A further 
report on Mortgages / Affordability 
was provided on 08/03/12. Cabinet 
(12/04/12) was requested to 
consider the creation of a LA 
Mortgage Scheme. 
The outcome of the Cabinet debate 
was reported back to Committee on 
07/06/12. It was agreed that the 
item should be retained on the 
Committee’s work programme.      

 

06/06/11 
 

Business Start Programme 
The Programme has performed well but: 
• Are we supporting businesses for the 

future? 
• What size of business is supported? 
• How long have supported businesses 

remained in business? 
Were businesses satisfied with the support?  

Report to Committee  This item was proposed by 
members for inclusion on the work 
programme at the committee 
meeting on 06/06/11. 
Report presented to Committee on 
07/11/11. Agreed that a further 
report on the future options for a 
business start-up programme be 
brought to a future meeting.  
Progress report presented to 
Committee on 08/03/12. The views 
of Committee were referred to 
Cabinet on 12/04/12.  The outcome 
of the Cabinet debate was reported 
back to Committee on 07/06/12. 

 

P
age 79



 

 
Date of 
New 
item  

Topic Description  How the topic will 
be dealt with 

Estimated 
Complete 
Date  

Comments on Progress Complete? 

      
06/06/11 
 

Inward Investment Report to Committee  This item was proposed by 
members for inclusion on the work 
programme at the committee 
meeting on 06/06/11. 
Report presented to Committee on 
05/09/11. Agreed that a further 
report will be provided once the 
Inward Investment Manager is in 
post. 
An update report was provided to 
Committee on 05/09/12.  

 

05/09/11 
 

Fair Trade Mark Johnston  The Chair provided a verbal report 
to Committee on 05/09/11 
regarding the work undertaken by 
him as Fair Trade Champion.  
In future, this work will be organised 
by the Economy & Regeneration 
Scrutiny Committee (rather than by 
Champions). A further report will be 
provided to a Committee meeting in 
the future.  

 

07/11/11 
 

Child Poverty Strategy Officer Reports 
(Jane Morgan) 

 A progress report on the Child 
Poverty Strategy and Action Plan 
was presented to the Committee on 
07/11/11. Agreed that regular 
updates will be brought to 
Committee in the future. Progress 
report provided to Committee on 
08/03/12. Further Progress reports 
will be provided to Committee. 
Committee agreed, on 05/09/12, to 
retain this item as part of the work 
programme.   

 

P
age 80



 

 
Date of 
New 
item  

Topic Description  How the topic will 
be dealt with 

Estimated 
Complete 
Date  

Comments on Progress Complete? 

      
 
07/06/12 
 

Visit to regeneration and housing sites, for 
example, housing schemes, Wirral 
International Business Park, Wirral Waters 

Members visit to be 
arranged by Kevin  
Adderley / David Ball 

 Tour of sites took place on 
03/07/12. 
 

Complete 

07/06/12 Housing Welfare Reform - The impact of 
Welfare Reform on both private and social 
housing sectors, and particularly on under 
occupation in the social sector. 

To be agreed Final Report 
due to be 
presented to 
Committee 
before the 
end of the 
2012/13 
municipal 
year.  

This topic was suggested by the 
Economy & Regeneration Scrutiny 
Committee, 8th March 2012. 
On 05/09/12, Committee agreed 
“Further scrutiny work being 
undertaken on the impact of 
Welfare Reform on both private and 
social housing sectors and, in 
particular, on under-occupancy in 
the social sector”. A special 
meeting of members was held on 
18/10/12 to discuss the scope for a 
planned scrutiny review. The draft 
Scope document was agreed by 
Committee on 14/11/12. Evidence 
Days were held on 15th and 22nd 
January 2013. The members’ report 
will be produced by April 2013.  

 

07/06/12 Wirral Trade Centre – Referral from Council, 
who agreed a motion on 16th April 2012 which 
included: “Council calls on the three Parties to 
agree membership for a 1:1:1 Member 
Working Party, reporting to the Economy and 
Regeneration OSC. This Working Party will 
scope a project leading to recommendations 
to ensure this Council and its partners are 
Trade Centre ready and able to embrace all 
opportunities for development through its 
growing links with China and other countries 
and that potential barriers to businesses and 
investors are identified and recommendations 
made as to how these can be overcome”.  

In-depth Scrutiny 
Review by Working 
Group of Members 
 

End of 2012 This item was proposed by 
members for inclusion on the work 
programme at the Committee 
meeting on 07/06/12. 
The final report from the Working 
Group was agreed by the 
Committee on 14/11/12. The report 
was referred to a future Cabinet 
meeting. An update report 
regarding the implementation of the 
recommendations will also be 
presented to a future meeting of 
this Committee.  
 

 

P
age 81



 

 
Date of 
New 
item  

Topic Description  How the topic will 
be dealt with 

Estimated 
Complete 
Date  

Comments on Progress Complete? 

      
05/09/12 Budget Consultation – Scrutiny Workshop 

 
Workshop  A Scrutiny Workshop regarding the 

budget and future priorities was 
held on 25/09/12. 
A further special meeting was held 
on 06/11/12 to discuss the 
outcomes of the ‘What Really 
Matters’ Consultation process.  
Further meetings to discuss Budget 
Options were held on 05/12/12 and 
12/02/13. 

 

05/09/12 
 

The effect of the economy on youth 
unemployment in Wirral 

Report to Committee  Jan 2013 A report was presented to 
Committee on 16/01/13. Members 
requested that a further update be 
presented in six months (that is, 
approximately Sept 2013)   

 

05/09/12 
 

Sub-Regional Choice Based Lettings Scheme Report to Committee  A report was presented to 
Committee on 16/01/13. Members 
requested a future report to include: 
(a) details of the number of lets that 
are available within each area; 
(b) details of the applicant’s current 
area of residence, compared with 
their first area of preference.   

 

05/09/12 
 

Deep Clean scheme in town centres Report to Committee  Further to a report to Committee 
regarding ‘Town Centres Update’ 
on 05/09/12, a future report on the 
Deep Clean scheme was 
requested. 
Due to the impact of budget 
reductions on future services, 
Committee agreed, on 14/11/12, 
that this report was no longer 
required.   

Closed 

P
age 82



 

 
Date of 
New 
item  

Topic Description  How the topic will 
be dealt with 

Estimated 
Complete 
Date  

Comments on Progress Complete? 

      
05/09/12 
 

The operation of the Free after Three parking 
scheme 
 

Report to Committee  Further to a report to Committee 
regarding ‘Town Centres Update’ 
on 05/09/12, a future report on the 
Free after Three parking scheme 
was requested. 
Due to the impact of budget 
reductions on future services, 
Committee agreed, on 14/11/12, 
that this report was no longer 
required.   

Closed 

05/09/12 
 

An evaluation of projects for Empty Shops 
funding 
 

Report to Committee  Further to a report to Committee 
regarding ‘Town Centres Update’ 
on 05/09/12, a future evaluation 
report of projects for Empty Shops 
funding was requested. The report 
is to be delivered approximately 12 
months after the funding was 
provided. 
Due to the impact of budget 
reductions on future services, 
Committee agreed, on 14/11/12, 
that this report was no longer 
required.   

Closed 

P
age 83



 

 
Date of 
New 
item  

Topic Description  How the topic will 
be dealt with 

Estimated 
Complete 
Date  

Comments on Progress Complete? 

      
05/09/12 
 

Progress reports regarding the Shopping 
Centre Action Plans 

Report to Committee  Further to a report to Committee 
regarding ‘Town Centres Update’ 
on 05/09/12, a future report on the 
Shopping Centre Action Plans was 
requested. 
A report was presented to 
Committee on 16/01/13. Committee 
agreed that a report be presented 
to the next meeting regarding the 
development of the Trader Toolkit 
and on progress in relation to the 
following centres that are the 
subject of the first phase of detailed 
action planning work –   
·  Liscard 
·  New Ferry 
·  Seacombe (Poulton Road / 
Borough Road) 
·  New Brighton (Seabank Road) 
·  Wallasey Village 
·  Irby  

 

14/11/12 Digital Inclusion Presentation  
(Rose Boylan) 

 A presentation is planned for the 
Committee meeting due to be held 
on 07/03/13. 

 

P
age 84



 

 
Date of 
New 
item  

Topic Description  How the topic will 
be dealt with 

Estimated 
Complete 
Date  

Comments on Progress Complete? 

      
05/12/12 Supporting People – future service provision   Special Committee meeting to 

discuss Budget Options (05/12/12) 
agreed to add this topic to the work 
programme. 
Committee agreed, on 16/01/13, to 
undertake a detailed scrutiny 
review of the Supporting People 
contracts. The three 
Spokespersons met with relevant 
officers on 04/02/13. The Members 
are confident that officers are 
already undertaking the required 
work and an in-depth review is not 
necessary at this stage. 
Departmental officers will make 
arrangements for members to visit 
some of the key service providers. 
In addition, an update report will be 
provided at the meeting of the 
Economy & Regeneration Scrutiny 
Committee, to be held in April.   

 

      
      

P
age 85



 

REPORT 2 
SUGGESTIONS FOR ADDITIONS TO WORK PROGRAMME   

ECONOMY & REGENERATION : 22nd APRIL 2013  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Topic Description  Topic 
suggested by 

How the topic will 
be dealt with 

Estimated 
Completion Date 

    
 
 

   

 
 

   

 
 

   

 
 

   

 
 

   

 
 

   

P
age 86



 

REPORT 3  
PROPOSED OUTLINE MEETING SCHEDULE FOR THE MUNICIPAL YEAR  

ECONOMY & REGENERATION : 22nd APRIL 2013 
 

Meeting 
Date 

Topic Description  

  
07/06/12 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Presentation and discussion – Dave Furlong & Lisa Thompson, Mole Group 
Terms of Reference for the Committee – Presentation (David Ball) 
Role of Scrutiny – Presentation (Alan Veitch) 
Green Growth in Wirral – – Feedback from referral to Cabinet, 12th April 2012 
Wirral Trade Centre – Notice of Motion – Referral from Council, 16th April 2012 
Affordability and Mortgages including First-Time Buyers – Feedback from referral to Cabinet, 12th April 2012 
Business Support – Feedback from referral to Cabinet, 12th April 2012 
Equality Impact Assessments – Referral from Scrutiny Programme Board, 28th February 2012    
Regeneration Tour, 3rd July 2012 
Scrutiny Work Programme  
Forward Plan 
Regeneration Update  

05/09/12 
 
 
 
 
 

Presentation and discussion – David Downing, Chairman of Drivecompare  
Trade Centre Scrutiny Review: Update (Report of Working Group – Cllr Mark Johnston, Chair) 
Performance Monitoring Report – Quarter 1 (Kevin Adderley) 
Feedback from the Member’s Regeneration / Housing Tour held on 3rd July 
Shopping Centre Regeneration – Update (David Ball) 
Investment Manager’s post – Update (David Ball – verbal report) 
Budget Consultation – Scrutiny Workshops 
Scrutiny Work Programme  
Forward Plan 
Regeneration Update  

25/09/12 Budget Consultation – Scrutiny Workshop 
06/11/12 Outcomes of the ‘What Really Matters’ Consultation process. 
12/11/12 
 
 
 
 
 

Presentation and discussion – Rebecca Owens, Recipro UK   
Trade Centre Scrutiny Review – Final Report 
Welfare Reform and under-occupation – Draft Scope document for future scrutiny review  
Scrutiny Work Programme  
Forward Plan 
Regeneration Update  

05/12/12 Consultation – Budget Options 

P
age 87



 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Meeting 
Date 

Topic Description  

  
21/01/13 
 
 
 
 
 

Presentation and discussion – CETCO  
Budget 2013 / 2016 – Initial Proposals 
The effect of the economy on youth unemployment in Wirral 
Sub-Regional Choice Based Lettings Scheme (Ian Platt) 
Progress reports regarding the Shopping Centre Action Plans (David Ball) 
Performance Monitoring Report – Quarter 2  and Quarter 3 (Kevin Adderley) 
Scrutiny Work Programme  
Forward Plan 
Regeneration Update  
                          

12/02/13 Outcomes of the ‘What Really Matters’ Consultation process – Part 2 
22/04/13 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Presentation and discussion – Member of the Business Community  
Digital Inclusion – Presentation (Rose Boylan) 
Under-occupation Scrutiny Review – Report from the Member’s Working Group  
Draft Housing Needs Assessment (Kevin Adderley) 
Fair Trade (Cllr Mark Johnston) 
Supporting People Programme (Sheila Jacobs) 
Progress reports regarding the Trader Toolkit and the Shopping Centre Action Plans (David Ball) 
Scrutiny Work Programme  
Forward Plan 
Regeneration Update  
 

P
age 88



 

 
REPORT 4 

PROGRESS REPORT ON IN-DEPTH PANEL REVIEWS 
ECONOMY & REGENERATION : 7TH MARCH 2013  

 
 Title of Review Members of Panel Progress to Date Date Due to  

report to 
Committee 

    
Trade Centre Scrutiny 
Review 
 

Cllr Mark Johnston (Chair) 
Cllr Jean Stapleton 
Cllr Andrew Hodson 

As at 02/07/12: 
• The Working Group has met to discuss the draft 

scope for the review.  
• The Scope for the review will be finalised and will 

be reported to Committee in September 
• A meeting at the Confucius Centre (Calday 

Grange Grammar School) has been arranged. 
• Further meetings with Council officers and 

members of the business, voluntary and 
community sectors will be arranged as the 
evidence-gathering for the review continues.  

As at 09/10/12: 
• Several further evidence-gathering meetings 

have taken place. 
• Members have met to discuss draft 

recommendations for the review. 
• The final report for the Trade Centre Scrutiny 

Review is due to be submitted to Committee on 
14/11/12. 

As at 20/11/12: 
• The final report for the Trade Centre Scrutiny 

Review was submitted to Committee on 14/11/12 
and to Cabinet on 20/12/12.  

End of 2012 

    

P
age 89



 

 
 Title of Review Members of Panel Progress to Date Date Due to  

report to 
Committee 

    
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Welfare Reform and under-
occupation 

Cllr Mark Johnston (Chair) 
Cllr Rob Gregson 
Cllr Denise Realey 
Cllr Jean Stapleton 
Cllr Mike Sullivan 
Cllr Janette Williamson 

As at 20/11/12: 
The Scope for the Review was discussed / agreed by the 
Committee on 14/11/12. 
As at 04/02/13 
Evidence Days have been held on 15th and 22nd January 
2013. The Members’ Report will be presented to the next 
meeting of the Economy & Regeneration Scrutiny 
Committee.  
   

By April 2013 

Supporting People  Cllr Mark Johnston (Chair) 
Cllr Jean Stapleton 
Cllr Andrew Hodson 

As at 04/02/13 
The three Spokespersons met with relevant officers on 
04/02/13 to discuss the Scope for the Review. The 
Members are confident that officers are already 
undertaking the required work and an in-depth review is 
not necessary at this stage. Departmental officers will 
make arrangements for members to visit some of the key 
service providers. In addition, an update report will be 
provided at the meeting of the Economy & Regeneration 
Scrutiny Committee, to be held in April.   
 

By April 2013 

    

P
age 90


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes Public Pack, 12/02/2013 Economy and Regeneration Overview and Scrutiny Committee

	5 Under-Occupation Scrutiny Review
	Under-Occupation Scrutiny Review
	EIA

	7 Supporting People: Process to Achieve £2 Million Budget Savings
	EIA SP Budget Savings April13 - FINAL

	11 Review of Scrutiny Work Programme

